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Liability Declaration

The Company records and prepares its financial statements primarily in accordance with Hungarian
Accounting Standards.

In addition, pursuant to Article 36 (1) of Regulation (EU) No 2024/2803 of the European Parliament and
of the Council (23 October 2024) on the implementation of the Single European Sky, independently of the
system of ownership or legal structure, the air navigation service providers are also required to prepare,
submit for audit and publish their financial accounts annually in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the Union, as required by Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the
European Parliament and of the Council (19 July 2002) on the application of international accounting
standards.

The IFRS Financial Statements of HungaroControl Plc. for the year 2024 have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), thereby complying with the above-mentioned
regulations of the European Parliament and of the Council.

On behalf of HungaroControl Plc., I declare that the Financial Statements for the year 2024 prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, contains true and fair view and does not omit any material
facts relevant to the assessment of the Company’s position.

The Financial Statements for the year 2024, prepared to our best knowledge in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the Company’s assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit or loss. In addition, information published give a true and fair view of the Company’s
position, developments and performance, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties.

Budapest, 29 May 2025

Chief Executive Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT

Tor the Sharcholder of HungiroConitol Ple

i

We have audited the financial sratements of HungaroControl Fle. (the Company™) for the year 2024 which
compriae the statement of financial position as af December 31, 2024 — which shows a total assets of mHUF
24,703 —, and the related income statement, statement of comprehensive fncome — which shows 3 total
comprehensive loss for the year of mHLUF 893 —, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the yvear then ended and notes o the financial statements including a summary of significat accounting
policies.

In our apinign, the accompanying financial statements gve o ree and fair view of the finapcial position of
the Company & at December 31, 2024 and of 1tz fnancial performance amd its cash Oows for the year then
ended in accordance with Intermnational Financial Reporting Standards accepted by the EU (the , EL IFRS™),
and the finarcial stalements were prepared in all materal respects in accordance with the provisions of the
effective Hungorian At © of 2000 on Accounting (the JActounimg Act™) relevam o the entities preparing
finueial statements in secordance with EU IFRS.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our awdit in accordance with the Hungarian National Standanrds on Auditing and the e fective
Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits. Our responsibilities under these standords are fusther
described in the “Ihe duditor s Besporoibilivies for the Awdit of the Fimancial Staiemeniz " section of our
report.

We are mndependent of the Company 1o compliance with the relevant effective Hunganan regulations and
the “Rules of conduct (ethical rules) of the auditor profession and the disciplinary process” of the Chamber
of Hungarian Ausditars and, in respect of matters not regulated therein, the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (incleding International Independence Standards) izsued by the Intemational Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (the IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
gecordance with the same ethicel requirements,

Wa beliove that the sudit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate (o provide 8 basis for our
oI mEon.



(Ither Marters

The Company prepared the attached financial statements to comply with Regulstion {EC) No 28032024 of
the European Pardiament and of the Council of 23 October 2024, Our auditor's opinion is prepared only for
thig purpose and may not be used for other purpoges,

To comply with iz disclosure obligation under Hungaman Act © of 2000 on Accounting {heremmafier;
Accounting Act"}, the Company alz prepared the Gnancial statements in accordance with the Accounting
Act for the reporting date of December 31, 2004, for which we issued an ungualified auditer's report on
by B, 2025,

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governonoe for the Finaneial Statsmenis

Munagement 1= responzble for the preparation of finencial stwements that give a free and fur view in
accordance with ELY IFESs and for the preparation of the financial stilements in accordance sath provisions
of the Accounting Act relevont t6 entitics preparing financial statements in gecordance with EU IFRSs, and
for such imternal control as management detenmines is necessary to enable the preparation of fnoncial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or emor.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsibic for essessing the Company s ability (o
continue as a going concen, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 1o going concern and using the gomg
concern basis of sccounting unless management cither mtends to liguidate the Company or o coase
operations, or has no realistic alternative but o do so.

Those charged with povernance are responsible for oversesing the Company's financinl reporting process.
The Awditor's Responsibilities for the Andit of the Fingaclal Sutemenis

Chur objectives during the audit are to obiain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free feom material misstatement, whether due to fraod or ervar, and oo issue, on the basis of the
above, an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 8 high level of assurance, but
iz not & guarantes that an aedit conducted in accordance with the Hungarian Mational Standards on Anditing
and the effective Hungarian laws and other regulations on audits will always detect a material misstatement
when it exizstz, Misstatements can arise from fraud or evror, and they are congidered material if, individually
ot in the aggregate, they cauld reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of nsers mken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Hungarian Mational Standards on Aunditing and the effective
Hungarign laws and other regulations on audits, we exercise professional judgment snd mointain
professional scepticiam throughout the awdit.

We mlso:
¢ ldentify and assess the risks of materinl misstatement of the financial stitements, whether due to
fruud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive o those rigks, and obtain awdit
evidence that iz sufficient and appropriniz to provide & basis for our opmion. The risk of nol
detecting a materinl misstatement resulting from fraud is kgher than for one resolting from error,
g5 fraud maoy involve collusion, forgery, intentional omisstons, misrepresentations, or the overrtde
of internal contral,



Obtain an understanding of mtemal comtrol relevant to the awdit in order to design aodit procedures
that ure appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing on opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's intemel control,

Evaluate the appropriatencss of sccounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and relnted disclosures mede by manpgement.

Conclude on the approprintencss of mansgement’s wse of the going concem basis of accounting
and, based on the wedit evidence obtamed, whethera material uncertuinty exists related (o evenis or
eonditions that may ca=t significant douk on the Companys ability to continue as & going concern.
If we conclude that & materizl uncertainty exists, we are required to drow aftention in the suditor™s
report to the related disclosures in the finaneinl statements or, i such diselosures are insdequate, to
modify the opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
muditor’s report. Howeser, future svenis or conditions may cause the Company (o coase to confinue
05 & going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, stiruscture and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlving transactions and events
in g manner that achieves fair presentation,

We communicete with those charged with governance regurding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the pedit ond sienificant audit finding=, including any stgmificant deficiencies in the Company's
imternal control thet we identify during the oudit,

Budapest, May 29, 2025

The artgingl Hungarian verston hes bean stpned.

Deeloitte Auditing and Congulting Lid.
1068 Budapest, Ddesa Gydegy 0 84/.C,
Registration numbser; 000083

%



HUNGAROCONTROL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024
amounts in million HUF
Description Notes December 31, 2024 | December 31, 2023

Intangible assets 11 20,545 18,152
Property, plant and equipment 12 28,924 28,083
Investments in joint ventures 9 47 28
Long term securities 14.3 4,190 3,608
Long term trade receivables 14.1 383 374
Other long term assets 14.1 109 67
Deferred tax asset 10 1,497 1,092
Non-current assets 55,695 51,404
Inventories 13 18 22
Trade receivables 14.2 9,057 9,755
Other current assets 14.2 3,712 4,010
Current tax receivable 10 1,022 59
Short term securities 14.3 15,047 23,692
Other financial assets 14.3 17 15
Cash and cash equivalents 14.3 10,135 17,020
Current assets 39,008 54,573
TOTAL ASSETS 94,703 105,977
Share capital 1.1 20,202 20,202
Reserves 28,950 38,845
Shareholder's equity 49,152 59,047
Long term provisions 15 0 7
Long term employee benefits 16 6,982 5,905
Long term leases 14.4 10,229 10,483
Other long term liabilities 14.4 893 1,289
Non-current liabilities 18,104 17,684
Short term credits 14.5 10,500 14,000
Short term leases 14.5 1,121 952
Trade payables 14.5 2,832 4,034
Short term provisions 15 219 81
Short term employee benefits 16 6,676 4,258
Current tax liability 10 22 532
Other short-term liabilities 14.5 6,077 5,389
Current liabilities 27,447 29,246
TOTAL LIABILITIES 45,551 46,930
TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 94,703 105,977

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



HUNGAROCONTROL
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

amounts in million HUF

Description Notes 2024 2023

Revenue from air navigation services 5 51,768 59,470
Other revenue 5 301 235
Revenue 52,069 59,705
Personnel expense 6.1 32,230 24,133
Operating expense 6.2 13,975 12,732
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment 11,12 7,085 6,344
Other income 7,14.2 834 903

out of this: Release of bad debt provisions 116 202
Other expense 7,14.2 1,516 950

out of this: Allowances charged on bad debts 157 238
Loss from other activities (682) (47)
Operating expense 53,972 43,256
OPERATING PROFIT / LOSS (-) (1,903) 16,449
Financial income 8 3,299 5,827

Z:I; Zst;h::; Itr;,l:;est revenue calculated using the effective 2,029 3,809
Financial expense 8 1,669 1,713
Profit from financial activities 1,630 4,114
Share from profit / loss of joint venture 9 19 16
PROFIT / LOSS (-) BEFORE TAX (254) 20,579
Income tax expense 10 940 2,197
PROFIT /LOSS (-) FOR THE YEAR (1,194) 18,382
Attributable to equity holder of the parent (1,194) 18,382
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to Comprehensive
income
Gain / loss (-) on cash flow hedges 14.7 299 (678)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 299 (678)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (895) 17,704
Attributable to equity holder of the parent (895) 17,704

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.



HUNGAROCONTROL

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

amounts in million HUF

Retained Valuation ]
Description Notes Share capital . % Total reserves shareholder's
earnings* reserve*® .

equity
Opening balance at 1 January, 2023 20,202 28,689 452 29,141 49,343
Transactions recognised in other comprehensive income 10, 16, 14.7 0 0 (678) (678) (678)
Profit for 2023 0 18,382 0 18,382 18,382
Total comprehensive income 0 18,382 (678) 17,704 17,704
Dividends (8,000) (8,000) (8,000)
Closing balance, 31 December, 2023 20,202 39,071 (226) 38,845 59,047
Transactions recognised in other comprehensive income 10, 16, 14.7 0 0 299 299 299
Profit / Loss (-) for 2024 0 (1,194) 0 (1,194) (1,194)
Total comprehensive income 0 (1,194) 299 (895) (895)
Dividends (9,000) (9,000) (9,000)
Closing balance, 31 December, 2024 20,202 28,877 73 28,950 49,152

* Retained earnings include accumulated net profit or loss less dividends paid.
** The change in the fair value attributable to the effective portion of cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income as hedge reserve. At the closing of the transaction, the

change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income has been transferred to the appropriate line in the comprehensive income statement.

*** The amount of dividend per share is HUF 44,551 in 2024 (HUF 39,601 in 2023).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.




HUNGAROCONTROL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

amounts in million HUF

Description Notes 2024 2023
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit / loss (-) before tax (254) 20,579
Depreciation and amortization 11,12 7,076 6,339
(Gain)/Loss on sale of property, plant & equipment 11,12 (9) (10)
Lrs(zzi;n:se:tts/Scrapping/Transfer free of charge/Subsidisation of 11,12 10 6
Short-term lease payments, payments for leases of low-value assets 6.2 27 26
Impairment/Scrapping of Inventory 13 2 8
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 15 131 (679)
Interest income 14.3,14.6 (2,524) (5,474)
Increase in provision for bad debts 14.2 53 (63)
Share of (income) from joint ventures 9 (19) (17)
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains)/losses 14.7 248 (123)
(Gains)/losses from other non-cash transactions 14.3,14.6 366 (93)
Total pre-tax profit-modifying items 5,361 (80)
Changes in working capital
(Increase)/ decrease in Accounts receivable and other current assets 14.2 1,248 3,150
(Increase)/ decrease in Inventory 13 2 (2)
Lrlccrrizsls/ (decrease) in Accounts payable, long term liabilities and 14.5 3,587 5,093
Income taxes paid 10 (2,818) (3,856)
Total changes in working capital 2,019 4,385
Net cash from operating activities 7,126 24,884
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase tangible assets and intangibles 11,12 (10,768) (9,737)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant & equipment 7 11 10
Purchase of financial assets 14.3 8,060 (24,797)
Sale of financial assets 14.3 0 6,796
Dividend received 9 0 61
Interest received 14.3,14.6 2,711 4,753
Net cash used in investing activities 14 (22,914)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash payments for the principal portion of the lease liability 14.4 (427) (371)
Drawdown of borrowings 14.5 2,428 34,438
Repayment of borrowings 14.5 (5,928) (20,438)
Interest paid 8,14.4 (1,098) (1,097)
Dividend paid 14.5 (9,000) (8,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (14,025) 4,532
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (6,885) 6,502
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 17,020 10,516
Exchange rate loss on cash and cash equivalents 0 2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14.3 10,135 17,020

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

1. General information

1.1. Company background

HungaroControl is the organization appointed by law to provide air navigation services in the Hungarian
airspace and training for air traffic controllers and flight information officers. Based on the request of the
North Atlantic Council HungaroControl, on behalf of the Hungarian State, also acts as a technical enabler
for the provision of certain air navigation services in the upper airspace of Kosovo. As an integrated civil
air navigation service provider, its mission is to deliver safe and reliable air navigation services in an
efficient, environmentally aware, customer-focused and unbiased manner in the designated airspaces: in
en-route traffic in the Hungarian airspace and in the upper airspace over Kosovo, as well as at the Budapest
Liszt Ferenc International Airport. Mandatory activities of the Company are laid down in Act XCVII of
1995 on Air Traffic.

HungaroControl Hungarian Air Navigation Services Private Limited Company (the ‘Company‘ or
’HungaroControl ‘) was established on November 22, 2006. The share capital (authorized and fully paid)
of the Company is HUF 20,202 million, comprising 20,200 Series ‘A’ stocks of HUF 1,000,000 face value
each and 16 Series ‘B’ stocks of HUF 100,000 face value each. The registration number of the Company
is Cg. 01-10-045570. Registered seat of the Company is H-1185 Budapest, Iglo u. 33-35., Hungary.
Webpage: https://www.hungarocontrol.hu.

1.2. Governance

HungaroControl is 100% owned by the N7 Holding National Defence Industrial Innovation Plc. The
Hungarian State has direct ownership over the N7 Holding National Defence Industrial Innovation Plc.
and thereby has indirect ownership over HungaroControl Plc.

N7 Holding National Defence Industrial Innovation Plc. prepares consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS from 2023 onwards in which the financial data of HungaroControl Plc. are fully
included. The consolidated financial statements are available at the following location of the parent
company: 1113 Budapest, David Ferenc Street 4-6.

The operations of the Company are supervised by the Supervisory Board composed of six members: four
representatives of the Owner and two representatives of the Employees.

2. Accounting policies

This part describes the basis of the financial statements preparation and the applied accounting policy. The
specific accounting policies, critical estimates and assumptions are presented in the relevant notes.

2.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
interpretations as endorsed by the European Union.

11



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention on going concern basis. The
financial statements are presented in million Hungarian Forints (HUF) as this is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Company operates. All values are rounded to the nearest million except
when otherwise indicated.

The Financial Statements contain:
- Statement of Financial Position,
- Statement of Comprehensive Income,
- Statement of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity,
- Statement of Cash flows,
- and an integral part in addition The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements.

2.2, The relationship between domestic legislation and IFRS regulation

The Company records and prepares its financial statements primarily in accordance with Hungarian
Accounting Standards. Some of the principles prescribed by Hungarian legislation differ from the principles
adopted by the Europen Union under IFRS. In order to present the Company’s financial position and results
of operation in accordance with the standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), the following adjustments have been made to the financial statements prepared
in accordance with Hungarian standards.

amounts in million HUF

Differences between Hungarian and Reserve Profit for the .. Movements Reserve

international financial statements EIIETRT L ear 2024 AL TULEREES (e,
2024 ¥ directly 2024

Financial statements according to Hungarian 35,048 7,831 (9,000) 178 34,957

Accounting Standards
Impact of deferred tax 1,157 405 0 0 1,562

Differences arising from recognition of

. L. 3,202 (197) 0 0 3,005

short-term employee benefits and provisions
Differences arising from thfe discounting of 646 3 0 0 654
long-term employee benefits
Other dlffere_nces ar|§|ng from discounting (55) ) 0 0 (64)
and recognition requirements
Differences arising from hedge accounting 0 (121) 0 121 0
Di - . :

ifferences arising from intangible and (672) (38) 0 0 (710)

tangible items

Contingent receivables and liabilities —
Differences arising from Under- and 414 (8,560) 0 0 (8,146)
overrecovery balances

Differences arising from requirements under

Lease standard (1,795) (513) 0 0 (2,308)

Financial statements according to International

Accounting Standards 38,845 (1,194) (9,000) 299 28,950

12



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

2.3. Foreign currency translations

Functional and presentation currency

Items presented in the financial statements of the Company is measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Company operates (‘the functional currency’), which is the
Hungarian Forint (HUF). The financial statements are presented in million HUF.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of these transactions or the date of measurement. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and on the year-end revaluation of financial assets and liabilities
held in foreign exchange are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

3. Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the disclosed
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and assumptions are outlined in detail in
the notes below. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions:
e Business model assessment: Financial assets are classified and measured on the basis of business

model and contractual cash flow characteristics (Note 14 Accounting policy). The Company
monitors whether there has been a change in the business model and whether a change in the
classification of a financial asset is necessary. In the periods presented, no change in the
classification was required.

e Significant increase in credit risk: In respect of the financial instruments presented under Note 14.3,
the Company has determined the recognition of 12-month expected credit loss according to low
credit risk. The Company monitors on an ongoing basis whether credit risk has increased
significantly, as explained under Note 14 Accounting policy section. In the periods presented, no
adjustment was required.

e Judgement in identifying whether a contract is a lease: The Company examines each lease contract
to determine whether the contract is a lease, as described under Note 14.4. Lease contracts are
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 standard.

e Determination of discount rates: Regarding lease contracts, the value of the implicit interest rate
can not be easily determined, therefore the Company applies incremental interest rates based on
IFRS 16 standard, taking into account the factors described under Note 14.4.

Receivables from flights exempted are discounted by risk-free interest rates as described under
Note 5 and 14.1.

For the determination of the discounted value of employee benefits (Note 16), the Company uses
external actuarial services, and uses forward rates calculated from the following resources:
reference yields published by the National Bank of Hungary (MNB), risk-free interest rates and

13



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

government bond reference yields published by the Government Debt Management Agency Plc.
(AKK).

Impairment test: When assessing intangible assets for impairment, the Company determines
whether an impairment loss should be recognised based on technological and business
considerations of past and future factors. No impairment loss has been recognised in the periods
presented.

The right-of-use assets are fully utilised, therefore no impairment loss has been recognised.

In case of trade receivables, the Company calculates the amount of loss allowance as described
under Note 14.2.

Significant influence over Associate: As described under Note 9., the Company has a 49%
ownership in EPC Ltd. and has a priority right to elect the managing director, so EC Ltd. is qualified
as an associated company.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs: The Company did not capitalize any borrowing cost for the years
presented because the amounts borrowed were not related to acquisition of qualifying assets. If
future borrowings relate to acquisition of a qualifying asset, borrowing costs will be capitalised.

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate, shall be recognised in the period of the change or in future
periods, depending on whether the change affects only the current financial year or also affects profit/loss
in future periods.

4.

4.1.

Regulatory environment

Application of IFRS (IAS) standards and interpretations

New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the current year:

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’: Classification of liabilities into
current and non-current categories, and presentation of Non-current liabilities with covenants —
effective from 1 January 2024. The amendment has no material impact on the Financial Statements
of the Company.

Modification to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’: Evaluation of lease liability in cases sold and lease back
transactions — effective from 1 January 2024. The modification has no material impact on the
Financial Statements of the Company.

The following new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards are issued and adopted by the European Union
that are not yet effective:

IFRS 1 °‘First Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’: Clarification of
requirements of hedge accounting for first-time adopters — effective from 1 January 2026. The
amendment has no material impact on the Financial Statements of the Company.

IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’: The definition of the parties acting as “de facto
agent” in the evaluation process of investments (i.e. who is considered a de facto agent) — effective
from 1 January 2026. The amendment has no material impact on the Financial Statements of the
Company.

Standards and interpretations are in issue but not adopted by the European Union up to the date of approval
of the Financial Statements are listed below. The Company intends to adopt these standards and
interpretations when they become effective.

14



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

e JFRS 18 ‘Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’: New Standard replacing IAS 1
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ — effective from 1 January 2027. The new standard is
expected to have material impact on the presentation of the Financial Statements of the Company.

e IFRS 19 ‘Subsidiaries Without Public Accountability” Disclosures: Voluntary application of
reduced IFRS disclosure requirements to small companies without public accountability — effective
from 1 January 2027. The new standard will not have material impact on the Financial Statements
of the Company.

e Amendments to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’: Accounting of nature-dependent electricity
contracts, derecognition of lease liabilities and clarification of transaction price reconciliations.
Settlements of financial liabilities using electronic payment systems, assessment of contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial instruments, including also those with environmental, social
and governance (ESG) characteristics— effective from 1 January 2026. The amendment is not
expected to have material impact on the Financial Statements of the Company.

e [FRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’: Accounting of nature-dependent electricity contracts,
clarifications concerning the presentation of the profit or loss on derecognition of a financial asset.
Settlements of financial liabilities using electronic payment systems, assessment of contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial instruments, including also those with environmental, social
and governance (ESG) characteristics— effective from 1 January 2026. The amendment is not
expected to have material impact on the Financial Statements of the Company.

o [AS 7 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’: Disclosure in the cash flow statements regarding investments
that are accounted for using the equity method or at cost. — effective from 1 January 2026. The
amendment is not expected to have material impact on the Financial Statements of the Company.

4.2. ESG — Environmental, Social and Governance

HungaroControl has always been committed to environmentally friendly and sustainable operations. In
addition, a Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy has already been implemented. However, there
are new requirements to fulfil in order to ensure ESG compliance.

In Hungary, the new, ESG-related obligations are set out in Act CVIII of 2023 (ESG Act). According to
the ESG Act, HungaroControl will have to comply with the respective requirements from the financial year
2025.

In order to ensure compliance with the ESG Act from 2025, HungaroControl has already started to analyse
the ways to develop a more sustainability focused corporate governance system and to integrate ESG
requirements into HungaroControl’s organisational and operational system.

For the sake of completeness, it should be noted that HungaroControl defines its ESG objectives and
determines the necessary tasks in relation to the corporate strategy by taking into account that ESG
compliance is an ongoing obligation.
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5. Income

Accounting policies:

Revenue from Contracts with Customers:

The Company applies IFRS 15 Standard for recognising revenues.

In accordance with IFRS 15 revenue is recognised as income arising in the course of the Company’s
ordinary activities. Revenue from contracts with customers is identified in accordance with the five-step
model of the standard:
1. Identification of contract
Identification of performance obligations
Determination of transaction price
Allocation of price to performance obligations
Recognition of revenue

wkwbd

The Company recognises revenue when it has satisfied the performance obligation by delivering the
promised service (or goods) to the customer. The service (or goods) is considered to be delivered when the
buyer obtains control over that. The Company specifies for each performance obligation whether it is to be
satisfied continuously (over a period of time) or at a specific time.

The Company’s revenue derives mainly from its air navigation activities. Air navigation services are billed
and the revenues are earned by the Company based on a HUF unit rate determined on the basis of pre-
budgeted costs and planned annual traffic taking into account the actual chargeable service units.

Air navigation charges are determined by the number of service units calculated by using a formula with
the maximum take-off weight of the air plane, and in the case on en-route services - the distance factor.

Revenue from air navigation services

The Company has three main revenue segments: navigation services provided to the overflight traffic (‘En
Route’) over Hungary, terminal air navigation services in the approach area of Liszt Ferenc International
Airport (‘terminal’), and navigation in the upper airspace of Kosovo. From 2015 both the Hungarian En
Route and terminal services were provided within the framework of the performance scheme. From 2015,
only the costs of air navigation in Kosovo upper airspace had been settled under the full cost recovery
scheme.

In the Hungarian En Route and in the terminal segment, within the framework of performance plan scheme,
so-called ‘reference periods’ are set for determining unit prices (for 5 years horizon); for which periods
performance plans at national level shall be prepared including the costs and traffic expected in the
reference period. This will be used as a basis to calculate the annual unit rates, based on which the revenues
will be realized. The performance scheme transfers part of the cost- and traffic risks on air navigation
service providers. Adjustments due to traffic risk sharing, inflation adjustments, uncontrollable costs do not
have an immediate impact on the Company’s revenues as the differences will be reflected in the new unit
rates charged to airspace users in later years.

Based on the EU Regulation No. 317/2019, the Company and the airspace users bear together any traffic
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risk in the En Route and terminal segments. As required by the EU Regulation No. 1627/2020 on the
COVID-19 pandemic, new performance plan was submitted on 1 October 2021 for the period of 2020-
2024. In 13 April 2022 the European Commission adopted the revised performance plan. The Commission
Decision on adoption was published in the Official Journal of the European Union in 18 May 2022 as No.
(EU) 2022/775.

In the Kosovo segment operating in a full cost recovery scheme the unit rates are determined by using
forecasted service units and relating costs estimated previously. The actual number of service units and
actual costs might differ from the planned ones which differences are then compensated via an adjustment
mechanism; as a main rule the under- or overrecoveries of the particular year ‘n’ is adjusted in the
calculation of the charging rate of ‘n+2’. The Kosovo airspace is covered in the common Serbia-
Montenegro-KFOR En Route charging zone. All the costs and income relating to the provision of the
service are included in the cost base of Serbia-Montenegro-KFOR in alignment with the principles of the
EUROCONTROL En Route charges system.

Accounting for flights exempted

The cost of exempted flights is presented in line ‘Revenue from air navigation services’ since the customers
of air navigation services are airspace users, irrespective of the financial settlement of these services (the
payments are performed by defined Ministries). In 2024 the amount of HUF 376 million (of which HUF
384 million is presented as trade receivables and HUF 8 million as a payable amount to HungaroMet Non-
profit Plc. — established by the transformation of the former Hungarian Meteorological Services ‘OMSZ’)
is presented as ‘Cost of exempted flights’ in line ‘Revenue from air navigation services’. The amount of
trade receivables is presented in ‘Long term trade receivables’ and ‘Trade receivables’ as shown in Note
14.1 and 14.2. The cost of exempted flights is settled approximately in two years, so the related financing
component is adjusted by applying a discount rate.

Sale of constructions performed on state owned property

Based on related regulations, the constructions performed by the Company on the state-owned property are
sold to Hungarian National Asset Management Inc., in this way they become part of state property. The
sale of the developments is not part of the Company’s ordinary activities under IFRS 15, that is why the
amounts are not recognised as sales revenue.

Other revenues not meeting presentation requirements

In accordance with the contract if it is not probable that the Company will collect the consideration to which
it is entitled in change for goods or services that is transferred to the customers, the revenue can not be
recorded. The Company has some service contracts on the basis of which revenue amounts can not be
presented, therefore related allowances are neither recorded.
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Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. The amount of sale of goods includes
the negligible amount of sale of textbooks and resale of utility charges.

Revenues from service provision

amounts in million HUF

Revenue 2024 2023
Revenue from air navigation services - en route segment 40,590 48,233
Revenue from air navigation services - terminal segment 10,171 9,060
Revenue from air navigation services - Kosovo segment 1,531 1,974
Cash-flow hedge accounting reserve booked to revenues (524) 203

Total revenue from air navigation services 51,768 59,470
Other revenue - domestic 277 173
Other revenue - foreign 24 62

Total other revenue 301 235

Total revenue 52,069 59,705

Analysis of revenue changes

The costs of air navigation services are recovered under the performance scheme.

Within the framework of performance scheme, ‘reference periods’ are set for determining the expected
unit prices and relevant costs for 5 years.

This will be used by the Company as a basis to calculate the annual unit prices, based on which the revenues
will be realized.

However, the actual turnover and costs differ from the planned ones each year, which turn — according to
the performance scheme rules — to under- or overrecoveries. These deviations are settled via an adjustment
mechanism. As a main rule the under- or overrecoveries of the particular year ‘n’ is adjusted in the
calculation of the charging rate for the period of ‘n+2’.

Analysis of revenue change between 2024-2023

The amount of revenue for 2024 is HUF 52,069 million while it was HUF 59,705 million for 2023.
The revenue variance between 2024 and 2023 comes from the following main items:

amounts in million HUF

Deviation of the Revenue

Revenue for 2024 52,069

Change in the applicable amount of carry overs stemming from previous years for 2024 unit

252
rate calculation resulting in revenue decrease in 2024 (7,252)

Higher determined cost of the applicable unit rate resulting in revenue increase in
2,987

2024

Decrease of traffic deviation from plan resulting in revenue decrease in 2024 (3,459)
Other 88
Revenue for 2023 59,705
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In the analysis of revenue, the main components are separated that cause the variance (size of determined
cost, size of balances, deviation of turnover from planned).

The decrease in revenue in 2024 compared to 2023 are due to the following main reasons:

e HUF 7,252 million decrease in revenue was due to the fact, that in case of Terminal and KFOR an
overrecovery from previous years had to be settled in 2024 instead of the settlement of a previous
underrecovery in 2023 (i.e. the part of the unit rates in the current year’s rates that is linked to the
balances of the previous years); and in case of ENR, the settled amount of the previous years’
overrecovery significantly increased, thus leading to unit rate reduction in 2024. The above
resulted in a revenue increase of HUF 192 million in 2023, while in 2024 they led to a decrease of
HUF 7,060 million.

e HUF 2,987 million increase in revenue resulted from the increase in determined cost according to
the approved performance plan. It led to an increase in revenue from HUF 48,592 million in 2023
to HUF 51,579 million in 2024.

e HUF 3,459 million decrease in revenue has resulted from the fact, that deviation of traffic from
planned is relatively less. The revenue earned on top of the planned was HUF 11,640 million in
2023, while in 2024 it was only HUF 8,181 million.

e In the Other category, the effect of the decrease in income related to search and rescue, and the
increase in revenue effect of the exchange rate difference are included.

Revenues from air navigation services:

The main activity of the Company is to provide air navigation services, 99.4% of the revenue derives from
air navigation charges in 2024 (99.6% in 2023).

In 2024 78% of revenues from air navigation services derives from navigation of overflight traffic (En
Route) over Hungary (82% in 2023), 19% derives from terminal air navigation services at Liszt Ferenc
International Airport (15% in 2023), and 3% derives from the navigation of air traffic in the upper airspace
over Kosovo (3% in 2023).

The performance obligations of providing air navigation services are fulfilled continuously and therefore
revenues are recognised over a period of time. The value of revenues from air navigation services is
modified by the foreign exchange result of cash flow hedge transactions concluded for hedging of foreign
exchange risk on revenues.

On average, more than 90% of the revenue from air navigation services — for a given flight month- is settled
in the last half of second month following the flight month, managed by EUROCONTROL’s Central Route
Charges Office (hereinafter CRCO).
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Development of air traffic

In 2024 HungaroControl’s air traffic services managed the safe flight of 1,288,267 aircraft in the Hungarian
controlled, uncontrolled and Kosovo airspace combined, 4.6% more than the previous record year 2023.
The share of overflight traffic in the total traffic handled by HungaroControl in the Hungarian airspace
remains very significant, it represents 89% of the total traffic in 2024. The traffic in uncontrolled airspace
remains below the record year of 2019, and is at the level of 2023.

According to CRCO data, the number of movements in controlled Hungarian airspace was 1,134,916, of
which 1,008,852 were overflights and 126,064 were terminal movements. As the revenue of the Company
is recorded based on CRCO data, CRCO data will be presented in the further analysis.

While the performance of the European air traffic network in 2024 could not match the performance of the
last year before the pandemic COVID-19, the number of aircraft in Hungarian airspace continued to
increase. In 2024 the total traffic in the Hungarian airspace reached a record high, and the significant
increase in traffic is due to several factors. On one hand all airlines that used to fly through the currently
closed Ukrainian airspace move to a westerly direction and fly through Hungarian airspace. On second
hand, as a consequence of sanctions imposed regarding the Russian-Ukrainian war, the vast majority of
airlines, which destination is in China, the Far East and India avoid Russian airspace, and a significant
number of these flights have also entered Hungarian airspace. Thirdly, traffic on the South-East axis grew
faster than the European average, mainly due to Turkish airlines.

The 126 thousand arrivals/departures at Budapest Liszt Ferenc International Airport in 2024 shows a
significant increase compared to 2023, it represents 17% increase in terms of movements and 22% increase
in terms of SU, and 103% of the traffic in 2019. The growth rate of the largest Hungarian airport in 2024
exceeds the average traffic growth of European airports. Due to the closure of Ukrainian airspace and
sanctions, air traffic between Hungary and cities in Ukraine and Russia remains suspended, but these flights
have been replaced by new flights from Budapest Liszt Ferenc International Airport responding to the huge
demand after COVID. In addition, the traffic of the Chinese cargo and passenger planes is increasing in
Budapest. However, some regions (e.g. North America) are not yet represented in the list of destinations
directly accessible from Budapest, signalling further potential for future years’ growth.

Development of Chargeable Service Units

The revenues of HungaroControl Plc. (en-route, terminal fees) are only indirectly determined by the number
of movements. The indicator directly generating revenue is the so-called Service Unit (SU). Its value
depends on the maximum take off weight of the aircraft in the terminal segment, and depends on the
maximum take-off weight of the aircraft and the distance flown between the entry and exit point of the
aircraft in the en-route segment.

20



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

En Route Chargeable Service Units

In 2024, the total number of en-route service units was 23% higher than in 2019 and 4.5% higher than in
the previous year. In 2024, the total number of en-route service units was 3,891,744, of which 27,738
(0.7%) were in the exempted category. The total number of chargeable en-route service units forming the
basis of revenue was 3,864,006 SU.

En-route Chargeable Service Units
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Terminal Chargeable Service Units

In 2024, the number of terminal service units was 22% higher than in the previous year and 9% higher than
in 2019. In 2024, the number of service units in the terminal business was 87,389, of which 559 units
(0.6%) were in the exempted category. The number of chargeable terminal service units that formed the
basis of revenue was 86,830 SU.

Terminal Chargeable Service Units
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Kosovo Chargeable Service Units

The financial accounting for the service provided in the upper airspace over Kosovo is based on the
common charging zone with Serbia and Montenegro. Therefore, for the Kosovo business, the analysis of
the service unit figures should be based on the traffic of the entire charging zone. The number of chargeable
service units was 124% of the traffic in 2019, which represents an increase of 8% compared to 2023.

Serbia/Montenegro/KFOR Chargeable Service Units
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Effect of hedge transaction on sales revenue:

A certain portion of the Company’s revenues from the provision of air navigation services denominated in
foreign currencies are involved as hedged item into cash flow hedge relationship. In this hedge relationship,
Company uses FX forward and FX swap deals as hedging instruments. As long as a cash flow hedge meets
the qualifying criteria the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge (i.e. the portion that is offset by the change in the cash flow hedge reserve calculated in
accordance with separate component of equity associated with the hedged item (in accordance with IFRS
9.6.5.11) is recognised in other comprehensive income. The amount formerly recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from the cash flow hedge reserve to revenue (as hedged category) as
a reclassification adjustment in the same period during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect
revenue.

The amount included in revenue as reclassification adjustment from equity is a loss of HUF 524 million in
2024.The total gain for 2023 was HUF 203 million.

Further information on cash flow hedges is included in the Notes 14.6 and 14.7. b).

No operations were discontinued, all revenue is derived from continuing operations.
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6. Operating expenses

Accounting policies:
If specific standards do not regulate, operating expenses are charged when they incur, or in the period with
which they are associated. When a given transaction is under the scope of specific IFRS, the transaction is

accounted for in line with those regulations.

In the followings the operating expenses are presented by category.

6.1.  Breakdown of personnel expenses

amounts in million HUF

Personnel expenses 2024 2023
Wages and salaries 24,159 17,473
Social security 3,526 2,534
Other personnel expenses 3,458 2,418
Pension expenses and expenses from other long term benefits* 1,087 1,708

Personnel expenses 32,230 24,133

* Further information is disclosed under Note 16.

Staff numbers for HungaroControl — closing figures:

Number of staff employed (head) 2024 2023
Division of air traffic services 421 377
Division of communications, navigation and surveillance 50 40
Division of technical development services 63 88
Support division* 288 270

Closing number of staff employed 822 775

* Support division: IT, legal, finance and HR, security and safety, compliance and internal audit.

Average statistical number of employees of the Company was 783.5 in 2024 (2023: 747.8).
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6.2. Components of Operating expenses

amounts in million HUF

Operating expenses 2024 2023
Energy costs 865 1,861
Other materials used 227 260

Cost of materials consumed 1,092 2,121
Software maintenance fees 2,193 1,593
Eurocontrol member fees 1,815 1,947
Fees of liability insurance 1,765 1,375
Trainings expenditure 1,452 1,041
Fees paid for authorities 1,259 1,327
Various other expenditures 960 348
Online service charges, charges for data transmission 716 655
Maintenance fees 561 534
Expenditure on consultancy and fees of expert 555 440
Safeguarding services 550 499
Cost of advertisement and marketing campaigns 416 319
Travel and other costs incurred on missions abroad 257 258
Charges paid for waste disposal and similar services 224 158
Real estate rental fees 46 29
Other rental fees 45 22
Rental fees of fixed assets 43 43
Cost of meteorological services consumed 25 23
Lease payment on state owned assets* 1 0

Other expenditures 12,883 10,611
Included: Short-term lease related expenditures 15 15
Included: Low-value asset lease related expenditures (excluding short- 12 1
term leases)

Total Operating expenses 13,975 12,732

* In September 2007, the Company signed an asset management agreement with the authority responsible for national
property (Treasury Property Directorate legal predecessor of Hungarian National Property Management Inc.). According to the
agreement, the Company acquired asset management rights over state owned land, buildings, structures and related property
rights. The Company represents this contract based on IFRS 16 Standard as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The expenses
above are not in relation to any right-of-use assets. The leasing fee is derived from the market value of the asset.

Accounting policies for leasing

The Company applies IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ Standard. Based on the requirements the Company recognises the
lease contracts as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in its Financial Statements, applying the exemption
of short-term leases and exemption of leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (recognition
exemptions). Lease payments associated with recognition exemptions (leases with a lease term of 12
months or less and leases with low-value underlying assets) are recognised as expenses on a straight-line
basis or on another systematic basis over the lease term.
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7. Other income (expense)

Accounting policies

The Company presents the effects of other income and other expenses on a gross basis. Other
comprehensive income includes the effects of impairment and the reversal of impairment of tangible fixed
assets, receivables charged to profit or loss, the effects of lack of inventory, the result of the sale of tangible
assets, the effect of claims (the amount of damages and the amount of compensation received), the amount
of penalties and fines, taxes, welfare and social costs, grants and donations to external organisations, and
interest on late payments.

amounts in million HUF

Other income and expense 2024 2023
Deferred development grants released 312 325
Discount received from EPC afterwards 195 182
Release of bad debt provisions* 116 202
Interest and other charges received on late payment 82 40
Operative grants related to expenses 74 122
Other various income items 55 30
Liabilities waived 0 2

Total Other income 834 903
Contribution to government expenses 379 0
Written value of bad debts 315 248
Reimbursement of expenses payable to Ministries 257 248
Expenses from charity activities and sponsorship 175 130
Allowances charged on bad debts* 157 238
Reimbursement of expenses payable to parent company 124 0
Building tax 66 59
Other various expense items 43 27

Total Other expense 1,516 950

Total (682) (47)

* Balances of allowances charged on bad debts are disclosed under Note 14.2.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When an operative grant relates to an

expense item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis
to the costs that it is intended to compensate. When a development grant relates to an asset, the Company
applies the deferred income method, where the fair value of grant is credited to a deferred income account
and is released to the comprehensive income statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset.

The Company received both development grants relating to assets and operative grants relating to
expenses. Grants relating to expenses are typically received for activities carried out within the SESAR
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(Single European Sky ATM Research) programme. Further information in connection with grants are
available at https://www.hungarocontrol.hu/eu-tamogatasok.

In case of Unmanned Traffic Management (UTM) the Company received both government and EU grants.
The amount of the government grant is HUF 120 million (for the development of website and mobile
application to support the use of unmanned aerial vehicles). Details of the EU funding are available at the
link above. The purpose of the grants is to demonstrate and validate air traffic control services (e.g.
registration, identification, virtual geo-fencing, dynamic airspace management, flight approval, etc.) in
relation to unmanned aerial vehicles. It also aims to develop new procedures and tools that will allow ATC
to fully integrate IFR RPAS with aviation and to demonstrate and validate the exchange of UTM data
through a single SWIM platform. The developed website is available at: https://mydronespace.hu

The following table includes the Statement of Financial Position items from grants not closed at the date
of Statement of Financial Position. The balance includes the income to the extent expenses have been
occurred. Regarding with these expenses the Company can prove that relevant requirements are going to
be satisfied and the amounts are expected to be granted. These amounts are accounted for as income to the
extent of the prefinancing received, above that against short term receivables in the Statement of Financial
Position.

amounts in million HUF

Balances of ongoing government grants December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Advance payment received 2,441 2,515
Accrued income 68 70

The following table shows the balances of deferred government grants related to assets and the movements
thereon. The amounts released to income in the relevant business years are summarized in the table below:

amounts in million HUF

Movements of government grants 2024 2023
Balances at January 1st 1,469 1,394
EU grants newly introduced during the year 0 401
Release of deferred grants (312) (326)
Balances at December 31st 1,157 1,469
Due in one year 311 323
Due over one year 846 1,146
8. Financial result

Accounting policies
The effects of financial income and financial expenses are presented on a gross basis. The financial result

includes gains and losses on the valuation of financial instruments and the effects of the valuation of
monetary assets.
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Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. Interest income
is included in financial results in the statement of comprehensive income.

Interest expense

The Company has overdrafts and revolving credit facilities exclusively used for financial investment
activities. Due to the specific nature of the loans — where no predetermined repayment schedule can be
established, which forms the basis for accounting using the effective interest method — the Company has
accounted for the interest paid on the amounts drawn down during the year in line with the bank statements
as an interest expense.

Other financial income and expenses

Accounting policies relevant to financial instruments and leases are presented in Note 14. Details of long-
term employee liabilities are provided in Note 16.

amounts in million HUF

Financial results 2024 2023
Realized interest income on term deposits and government securities
) P & 2,029 3,809
valued at amortized cost
Exchange rate gains realized on term deposits and government securities
. 614 170
valued at amortized cost
Interest recognised in comprehensive income and included in financial 495 1 666
results (swap points received)* !
Foreign exchange gains realised 81 0
Interest income due to discount breakdown of other items 49 59
Ineffective gains of fair value hedges included in financial results* 28 0
Reversal of impairment loss on securities accounted for at amortized cost 3 0
Foreign exchange gains on year end revaluation 0 123
Profit from financial activities 3,299 5,827
Interest on lease liabilities*** 789 814
Interest paid on borrowings according to effective interest method**** 309 283
Foreign exchange loss on year end revaluation 248 0
Ineffective loss of cash flow hedges included in financial results* 240 253
Interest expense due to discount breakdown of other items** 77 91
Exchange rate loss realized on term deposits and government securities 4 6
valued at amortized cost
Impairment loss on securities accounted for at amortized cost 2 4
Ineffective loss of fair value hedges included in financial results* 0 140
Foreign exchange loss realised 0 122
Loss from financial activities 1,669 1,713
Total results of financial activities 1,630 4,114

* Hedges are disclosed under Note 14.6 and Note 14.7 b)

** Long term benefits are disclosed under Note 16.

*** | ease liabilities are disclosed under Note 14.4.

**¥* The amount of the overdraft taken during the year was repaid by the Company by the end of the year.
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9. Investments in joint ventures

Accounting policies

The Company presents its joint ventures using the equity method. Under the equity method, the investment
in the joint ventures is carried at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Company’s share of net assets.
Investments in joint ventures are assessed to determine whether there is any objective evidence of
impairment. If there is evidence of impairment the recoverable amount of the investment is determined to
identify any impairment loss to be recognised. Where losses were made in previous years, an assessment
of the factors is made to determine if any loss may be reversed. The impairment tests are performed by the
Company annually based on the approved business plans of the joint ventures during the preparation of
financial statements.

The financial statements include the data of HungaroControl and its joint ventures - Entry Point Central
Ltd. (EPC Ltd.) and FABCE Aviation Services Ltd. (FABCE Ltd.) — calculated using the equity method.

EPC Ltd. was founded to provide training for air navigation personnel. EPC Ltd. is incorporated in Hungary
and keeps its books in Hungarian Forints. The EPC Ltd. is jointly controlled with the Swedish Entry Point
North AB and owns 51% of the registered capital whereas HungaroControl owns 49%. The major
governing policies are formed based on unanimous decisions of the quotaholders. The managing director
is nominated by HungaroControl and elected by the quotaholder’s meeting, in respect to election
HungaroControl’s quota provide priority rights. Based on this arrangement EPC Ltd. is considered to be a
joint venture and presented in the financial statement using equity method. The table below shows the
details of EPC Ltd.:

Registered capital

Joint venture Date of foundation (in million HUF)

Ownership

Entry Point Central Ltd. May 26, 2011 3 HungaroControl 49%

FABCE Ltd. was founded by the members of the Functional Airspace Block of Central Europe (FABCE)
with the participation of the ANSPs of Austria, the Czech Republic, Croatia, Hungary, Slovakia and
Slovenia. FABCE Ltd. is responsible for the support of the implementation of the FABCE programme and
for the professional management of various regional air navigation projects. FABCE Ltd. is jointly
controlled by its members. FABCE Ltd. is incorporated in Slovenia and keeps its books in EUR and
according to the IFRS. The following table presents the data of FABCE Ltd.:

Registered capital

Joint venture Date of foundation (in EUR)

Ownership

FABCE Aviation Services Ltd. October 17, 2014 36,000 HungaroControl 16.67%
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Balances at the year ends were the following in case of investments in joint ventures:

amounts in million HUF

Investments EPC Ltd. FABCE, Ltd. Total
Value January 1, 2023 71 2 73
Share from profit/loss for 2023 16 0 16
Dividend received (61) 0 (61)
Value December 31, 2023 26 2 28
Share from profit/loss for 2024 19 0 19
Value December 31, 2024 45 2 47
Investment in EPC Ltd.

The assets and liabilities, income and expenses of EPC Ltd. and the Company’s share thereof as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023, are as follows:

amounts in million HUF

EPC Ltd.’s Statement of Financial Position December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Non-current assets 5 5
Current assets™ 212 96
Non-current liabilities 0 0
Current liabilities** 125 47

Net assets 92 54

* The amount of cash and cash equivalents presented under current assets is HUF 146 million in 2024 (HUF 93 million in 2023).
** The amount of current liabilities includes non-financial liabilities, except for trade payables.

amounts in million HUF

EPC Ltd.’s Statement of Comprehensive Income 2024 2023
Revenue 1,278 926
Operating expenses* 1,235 888
Financial result** (1) (1)

Profit before taxes 42 37
Income tax expense 4 3

Profit for the year 38 34

* The amount of depreciation presented among operating expenses is HUF 0.06 million in 2024 (HUF 0.2 million in 2023).
** The amount of received interest presented in the financial result is HUF 1 million in 2024 (HUF 0.01 million in 2023), while
there was no interest paid in either year.

The initial cost of the investment was HUF 6 million when acquired - which together with the accumulated
profit above resulted in an investment value of HUF 45 million at the end of 2024 (2023: HUF 26 million).
The gain included in the ‘Share from profit / loss of joint venture’ line of the comprehensive income for
the financial year 2024 is HUF 19 million (2023: HUF 16 million) regarding EPC Ltd. In 2024 EPC Ltd.
did not pay dividend (in 2023 EPC Ltd. paid HUF 61 million dividend).

EPC Ltd. had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments at the year ends presented.
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EPC Ltd. being a joint venture of HungaroControl Plc. does not have any risks or exposures that would be
disclosed according to IFRS 12.20 requirements.

Investment in FABCE Litd.

FABCE Ltd. is the other joint venture of the Company. The total share capital of the joint venture is EUR
36,000.

amounts in million HUF

FABCE Aviation Services, Ltd.’s Statement of Financial Position December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Non-current assets 1 0
Current assets* 102 97
Current liabilities** 66 62

Net assets 37 35

* The amount of cash and cash equivalents presented under current assets is HUF 19 million in 2024 (HUF 10 million in 2023).
** The amount of current liabilities except for trade payables, includes HUF 0.6 million short-term financial liabilities in 2024
(HUF 0.3 million in 2023).

amounts in million HUF

FABCE Aviation Services, Ltd.’s Statement of Comprehensive Income 2024 2023
Revenue 260 212
Operating expenses* 260 212

Profit for the year 0 0

* The amount of depreciation presented among operating expenses is HUF 0.3 million in 2024 (HUF 0.2 million in 2023).

** The balance of received and paid interest presented in the financial result is immaterial in both years.
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10. Income taxes

Compared to the income tax rate set by the Tax Act (9%), the effective tax rate was negative (minus 370%)
in 2024 caused by the positive tax charge on the negative profit (11% in 2023). The difference between the
income tax rate under Tax Act and the effective tax rate is mainly influenced by the additional tax
expenditures to be taken into account (local business tax and innovation tax).

Accounting policies:

The Company classified the following taxes as income taxes: corporate income tax, local business tax and
innovation contribution.

Corporate income tax and innovation contribution are payable to the National Tax and Customs
Administration, and local business tax is payable to the responsible local governments. The basis of the
corporate income tax is the taxable entities’ accounting profit adjusted for non-deductible and non-taxable
items. The basis of the local business tax and innovation contribution is the taxable entities’ revenue
reduced by cost of materials, cost of goods sold and cost of services transmitted.

Deferred tax is recognised applying the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax
is not accounted if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax is determined using income tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
date of Statement of Financial Position and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is
realized or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income on the line of Income tax
expense, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent of the probability that future taxable profit (or reversing
deferred tax liabilities) are available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. The value of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each Statement of Financial Position date and modified to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is also provided on taxable temporary differences arising on the joint venture, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws and
the amount and timing of future taxable income. Differences may arise between the actual results and
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions could necessitate future adjustments to tax
income and expense already recorded.
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Receivables and liabilities from income taxes

Income tax receivables and liabilities by categories

amounts in million HUF

Income taxes December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Corporate tax 906 0
Local business tax 116 59

Current tax receivable 1,022 59
Corporate tax 0 437
Innovation contribution 22 95

Current tax liability 22 532

Income tax expense
Current income tax and deferred tax expenses:
amounts in million HUF

Income tax expense 2024 2023
Current tax 1,345 2,317
Deferred tax (405) (120)

Total income tax expense 940 2,197

The effective income tax rate varied from the statutory income tax rate due to the following items:

amounts in million HUF

Effective income tax rate 2024 2023
Profit / loss (-) on ordinary activities before tax (254) 20,579
Tax on profit / loss (-) on ordinary activities at standard rate (9%) (23) 1,852
Other income taxes corrected with the effect of corporate income tax rate 1,089 1,204
Total tax charge 1,066 3,056
Permanent differences (126) (859)
Tax charge for year at an effective tax rate 940 2,197
Effective tax rate -370% 11%

The effective tax rate is largely influenced by the local business and innovation contribution expense.
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Deferred tax asset and liabilities

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Company, and movements
thereon during the current and prior reporting periods:

amounts in million HUF

. . Balance at Credit/ Credit/ Balance at
Reason for differences between tax rules and accounting
treatment under IFRS December 31, (charge) to (charge) to December 31,
2024 equity income 2023
Provisions not included in tax base 1,062 0 306 756
Differences regarding state owned assets 402 0 51 351
Debt allowances not included in tax base 76 0 (30) 106
Right-of-use assets related to other lease contracts 10 0 4 6
Differences between tax base and carrying amount of
. 4 0 (2) 6
assets discounted
Valuation reserve of securities 4 0 1 3
Investments in joint ventures (3) 0 (1) (2)
Government grants revenues which are included in tax
i o (5) 0 (2) (3)
base in the next financial year
Accelerated tax depreciation (53) 0 78 (131)
Total deferred tax asset (+) /liability (-) 1,497 0 405 1,092

amounts in million HUF

. . Balance at Credit/ Credit/ Balance at
Reason for differences between tax rules and accounting
treatment under IFRS December 31, (charge) to (charge) to December 31,
2023 equity income 2022
Provisions not included in tax base 756 0 71 685
Differences regarding state owned assets 351 0 68 283
Debt allowances not included in tax base 106 0 6 100
Right-of-use assets related to other lease contracts 6 0 (2) 8
Differences between tax base and carrying amount
) 6 0 (1) 7
of assets discounted
Valuation reserve of securities 3 0 3 0
Investments in joint ventures (2) 0 (2) 0
Government grants revenues which are included in tax
) ) ) (3) 0 5 (8)
base in the next financial year
Accelerated tax depreciation (131) 0 (28) (103)
Total deferred tax asset (+) /liability (-) 1,092 0 120 972
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset as the Company has legal right to settle current tax
amounts on a net basis and the deferred tax amounts are levied by the same tax authority "NAV’) on the
same entity.

The corporate income tax rate applicable in Hungary is 9%. Corporate income tax rate applied for deferred
tax calculation is based on the estimated assessable tax base and tax payable for the relevant years.

Local business tax and innovation contribution are recognised as deductible expenses in the corporate
income tax base. No temporary differences arose in respect of these taxes hence they do not have any effect
on deferred taxes and rates determined. Local business tax rate on its tax base is 2%, whereas the rate of
the innovation contribution 0.3% on the same tax base.

Deferred taxes were calculated with income tax rate of 9% in 2024 and in 2023 as well.

From the balance above HUF 433 million deferred tax asset is expected to be reversed in one year, HUF
1,064 million deferred tax asset is expected to be reversed in 5 years.

Global minimum tax

The purpose of global minimum tax regulation is to raise the effective tax rate to a minimum of 15 % level
of the groups of companies regulated by the act, by requiring the member or members of the group to pay
additional tax when the effective tax burden of the group is low. For the groups that are subject to global
minimum tax, the effective tax rate determines whether the group is considered to have a low tax burden
and whether it is required to pay additional tax.

The effective tax rate is determined by the adjusted covered tax expenses divided by recognised net profit
of the members of a group resident in the jurisdiction. The content and modifying items of covered tax
expenses and recognised net profit are regulated by law.

If the company becomes liable to pay additional tax, the tax expense must be recognised in the same way
as for as corporate tax and must be paid in HUF, USD or EUR.

As a member of the N7 Holding Group the Company reviews the requirements for the application of the
global minimum tax in accordance with the parent company’s guidelines. The application of the global
minimum tax depends on whether the annual turnover of the parent company is above EUR 750 million in
at least two of the four financial years under review, as reported in the consolidated financial statements,
this criterion determines the group’s liability to pay global minimum tax. The N7 Holding Group has
prepared its financial consolidated statements under IFRS for the year 2023, but the accounts have not yet
been finalised and adopted, so the comparison of turnover to the threshold will only be finalised after the
adoption of the consolidated accounts.

The global minimum tax will be subject to declaration and payment obligations in 2026 at the earliest. The
tasks and processes in relation to the global minimum tax are under development.
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11. Intangible assets

Accounting policies

Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the best estimate of their useful lives.

The Company has elected not to apply IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ Standard for the leases of intangible assets.
Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The amortization period and the amortization method are reviewed annually at each financial year-end.

Typical amortization rules are stated as follows:

Type of asset Useful life
Licenses purchased for core activity 5-6 years
Licenses purchased for other activities 3 years
Software purchased for core activity 5 years
Software purchased for other activities 3 years

Carrying amounts of intangible assets that are already capitalised or not yet available for use are reviewed
by the Company on a yearly basis. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.

During the impairment review, the Company did not identify any technical or business considerations that
led to recognise any impairment loss on intangible assets among capitalised or not yet available for use
items.

The Company does not have any intangible assets with indefinite useful lives to be managed in accordance
with IFRS.
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The table shows movements of intangible assets:

amount in million HUF

Intangible assets Internally generated Other
Work in Internally ) Work in Other Intangible assets
Software generated Property right Software total
progress e progress total
Net value at January 01, 2023 192 442 634 8,174 7 6,840 15,021 15,655
Gross value:
January 01, 2023 270 442 712 38,019 34 6,840 44,893 45,605
Previous year's correction 0 0 0 448 0 (748) (300) (300)
Additions 0 84 84 0 0 5,357 5,357 5,441
Capitalization 199 (199) 0 5,437 0 (5,437) 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 (10,280) 0 0 (10,280) (10,280)
December 31, 2023 469 327 796 33,624 34 6,012 39,670 40,466
Amortisation:
January 01, 2023 78 0 78 29,846 26 0 29,872 29,950
Previous year's correction 0 0 0 247 0 0 247 247
Additional amortisation 58 0 58 2,336 3 0 2,339 2,397
Disposal of accumulated amortisation 0 0 0 (10,280) 0 0 (10,280) (10,280)
December 31, 2023 136 0 136 22,149 29 0 22,178 22,314
Net value at December 31, 2023 333 327 660 11,475 5 6,012 17,492 18,152
Gross value:
January 01, 2024 469 327 796 33,624 34 6,012 39,670 40,466
Previous year's correction 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1
Additions 0 188 188 0 0 5,159 5,159 5,347
Capitalization 192 (192) 0 1,573 19 (1,593) (1) (1)
Disposals 0 0 0 (1,699) 0 (4) (1,703) (1,703)
December 31, 2024 661 323 984 33,499 53 9,574 43,126 44,110
Amortisation:
January 01, 2024 136 0 136 22,149 29 0 22,178 22,314
Additional amortisation 59 0 59 2,887 4 0 2,891 2,950
Additional impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 4
Disposal of accumulated amortisation 0 0 0 (1,699) 0 0 (1,699) (1,699)
Disposal of accumulated impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 (4) (4) (4)
December 31, 2024 195 0 195 23,337 33 0 23,370 23,565
Net value at December 31, 2024 466 323 789 10,162 20 9,574 19,756 20,545
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The intangible assets are free of all liens, claims and encumbrances.

The Company capitalizes the costs of experimental development in accordance with IAS 38, in the value
of the direct costs of the experimental development started but not completed by the date of Statement of
Financial Position of the business year — that is expected to be recovered in the future.
The most significant increase in the year:

e Traffic Complexity Tool system development in the amount of HUF 450 million,

e Software capacity expansion of rescue system in the amount of 261 million.

HungaroControl considers the MATIAS air traffic control system to be the most significant and material
item among its intangible assets. The MATIAS system is set of several individual elements that, through

continuous development, meet the requirements of European legislation.

The assets of the MATIAS system with carrying value at 31 December 2024 are distributed as follows.

Remaining amortisation
Intangible assets N(,et va.I u.e period
amount in million HUF -

Property right 658 1

Property right 2,578 3

Property right 3,462 6
Property right total 6,698

Internally generated software 453 5
Internally generated software total 453

Property right in progress 2,792 0
Property right in progress total 2,792
Intangible assets total 9,943

12. Property, plant and equipment

Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, and accumulated
impairment loss. The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including
import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use, such as borrowing costs. Changes in estimates
thereof adjust the carrying amount of assets. Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhead costs, are normally charged to
comprehensive income statement in the period in which the costs are incurred.

Depreciation is charged using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.

The Company recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in its Financial Statements under IFRS 16

‘Leases’ Standard regarding lease contracts, applying the exemption of short-term leases and exemption of
leases for which underlying asset is low of value (recognition exemptions).
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Right-of -use assets are measured at cost at the lease commencement date, the value comprises the following
items:
e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
e any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received,;
e any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee, and
e an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset, to restore the site or restore the
asset required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless the cots are incurred to produce
inventories.

After the commencement date right-of-use assets are measured applying the cost model:
e less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses; and
e adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.

The depreciation requirements in IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ Standard is applied in
depreciating right-of-use assets. Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated using the straight-line
method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life or the end of the lease term.

IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ Standard is applied to account for any impairment loss identified regarding
to the right-of-use assets.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The determination of the useful life of property, plant and equipment is based on experience with similar
assets and expected technological developments.
The residual value, useful life and the depreciation method are reviewed annually at each financial year-

end.

Typical depreciation rules are stated as follows:

Type of asset Useful life
Buildings 40 years
Other structures 40 years
Investment on leased property 17 years
Production machinery and equipment 7 years
Computer hardware 3 years
Vehicles 5 years
Furniture 10 years

Depreciation is not accounted for Lands and Assets under constructions.

The Company applies the component measurement, i.e. it examines whether an asset contains a significant
component that has a useful life that differs from the useful life of the other parts of the asset. In such a
case, the Company recognises depreciation separately for the significant component in accordance with
IAS 16.43.
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The method of impairment review and impairment recognition is consistent with the method described in
Note 11.

No borrowing costs were recognised as part of the initial cost in 2024 and in 2023.

The table shows movements of property, plant and equipment, which includes the movements of right-of-
use assets regarding leased items separately:

amounts in million HUF

Property, plant and equipment :;z?lji?:;: e-Lilcil:r‘ri\cear:t quitphr:znt ::’:;:(ei; ;;::te;:\‘z
equipment
Net value at January 1, 2023 14,275 7,350 3,520 2,915 28,060
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 3,943 5,473 3,398 2,915 15,729
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 10,332 1,877 122 0 12,331
Gross value:
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 6,325 18,356 11,151 3,293 39,125
January 1, 2023 6,106 17,503 10,129 2,915 36,653
Previous year's correction 0 0 0 57 57
Additions 0 0 0 3,642 3,642
Capitalization 219 1,684 1,418 (3,321) 0
Disposals 0 (831) (396) 0 (1,227)
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 13,431 1,919 150 0 15,500
January 1, 2023 13,465 2,026 157 0 15,648
Additions 258 6 2 0 266
Disposals (292) (113) (9) 0 (414)
Gross value at December 31, 2023 19,756 20,275 11,301 3,293 54,625
Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 2,456 12,363 7,527 0 22,346
January 1, 2023 2,163 12,030 6,731 0 20,924
Additional depreciation 293 1,159 1,192 0 2,644
Additional impairment loss 0 5 0 0 5
Disposal of accumulated depreciation 0 (826) (396) 0 (1,222)
Disposal of accumulated impairment loss 0 (5) 0 0 (5)
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 3,901 222 73 0 4,196
January 1, 2023 3,133 149 35 0 3,317
Additional depreciation 873 136 42 0 1,051
Disposal of accumulated depreciation (105) (63) (4) 0 (172)
Depreciation at December 31, 2023 6,357 12,585 7,600 0 26,542
Net value at December 31,2023 13,399 7,690 3,701 3,293 28,083
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 3,869 5,993 3,624 3,293 16,779
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 9,530 1,697 77 0 11,304
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amounts in million HUF

Property, plant and equipment ti?li;r: e-lc-ici:rr:‘;ar:t qui:ohn?\:ent ::I:gr:(ei; :Ir::te;?(;
equipment
Net value at January 1, 2024 13,399 7,690 3,701 3,293 28,083
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 3,869 5,993 3,624 3,293 16,779
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 9,530 1,697 77 0 11,304
Gross value:
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 6,503 18,353 14,010 3,520 42,386
January 1, 2024 6,325 18,356 11,151 3,293 39,125
Previous year's correction 0 0 0 (25) (25)
Additions 0 0 0 4,678 4,678
Capitalization 180 1,239 3,007 (4,426) 0
Disposals (2) (1,242) (148) 0 (1,392)
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 13,381 1,924 275 0 15,580
January 1, 2024 13,431 1,919 150 0 15,500
Additions 258 5 267 0 530
Disposals (308) 0 (142) 0 (450)
Gross value at December 31, 2024 19,884 20,277 14,285 3,520 57,966
Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 2,732 12,453 8,858 (1] 24,043
January 1, 2024 2,456 12,363 7,527 0 22,346
Additional depreciation 277 1,332 1,477 0 3,086
Additional impairment loss 1 0 0 4 5
Disposal of accumulated depreciation (1) (1,242) (146) 0 (1,389)
Disposal of accumulated impairment loss (1) 0 0 (4) (5)
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 4,623 350 26 0 4,999
January 1, 2024 3,901 222 73 0 4,196
Additional depreciation 857 128 55 0 1,040
Disposal of accumulated depreciation (135) 0 (102) 0 (237)
Depreciation at December 31, 2024 7,355 12,803 8,884 0 29,042
Net value at December 31,2024 12,529 7,474 5,401 3,520 28,924
Property, plant and equipment owned by Company 3,771 5,900 5,152 3,520 18,343
Property, plant and equipment leased by Company 8,758 1,574 249 0 10,581

Leased assets are required for the uninterrupted operation of the Company.

Regarding lease assets that fall within the recognition exemption under IFRS 16 (short-term leases and
leases for which the underlying asset is low of value) the Company presents the relevant information under
Note 6.2, in ‘Cost of materials’ section.

HungaroControl has no expenses related to variable lease payments that are not included in the
measurement of lease obligations.

The total cash outflows for lease liabilities are shown in the table under Note 14.7 ‘Changes in liabilities
due to financing activities’.
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The most significant amount (appr. 75%) in the value of right-of-use assets recognised by the Company
consists of asset management rights over state owned properties. The assets are intended to be used until
the end of the properties' useful lives with lease terms between 10 and 35 years. The asset management
rights over state owned properties were revalued at the beginning of the reference period on the basis of the
revised residual cash flows and cost of capital, which resulted in a decrease in the value of the right-of-use
assets.

The rest of the value of right-of-use assets consists of leased cars (typically with lease terms of remaining
4 years), leased equipments and premises at the area of Budapest Liszt Ferenc International Airport (with
lease terms of 5 to 15 years), leases of other equipments and premises. On the territory of Budapest Liszt
Ferenc International Airport, a 15 years long lease of an optical cable ring started in 2022.

The above assets are free of all liens, claims and encumbrances. The Company conducts annual reviews of
the carrying values of its property, plant, equipment.

13. Inventories

Accounting policies

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, after provision for slow-moving and
obsolete items. Net realizable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
making the sale. Cost of purchased goods is determined primarily on the basis of weighted average cost.
Unrealizable inventory is fully written off. Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing
equipment are recognised by the Company in inventories and are carried through the statement of
comprehensive income upon use. However, certain significant spare parts, stand-by equipment and
servicing equipment meet the definition of property, plant and equipment if they are expected to be used
during more than one period.

The Company exercises judgment, with the involvement of technical departments, to determine if a spare
part qualifies as inventory or an item of property, plant and equipment. Specifically, critical spare parts of
radar equipment qualify as long term assets and therefore are capitalized in the Statement of Financial
Position.

Balances of Inventories at the year ends occurred as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Inventories December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Spare parts 7 12
Other materials 11 10

Inventories 18 22

No impairment of inventories was required in 2024 (in 2023 an impairment loss of HUF 7 million was
recognised for other materials). No previously recognised impairment loss was released for the years
presented.

In 2024, the obsolate fire dampers, ball valves and string regulators were scrapped in the amount of HUF
7 million among the stock materials, for which the amount of the previously recognised impairment loss
was also written off, amounting to HUF 5 million.
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Spare parts line item contains those slow-moving inventories that serve the operation for more than one
year, but the type of these inventories does not justify their treatment as fixed assets (such as office supplies,
work clothes, protective clothes and other materials such as light bulbs, button batteries, insulating tapes).
The net value of these inventories in 2024 is HUF 3 million (in 2023 HUF 2 million).

14. Financial instruments, capital and financial risk management

Accounting policies

IFRS 9 standard is applied for recognition and measurement of hedging transactions and for all other
financial instruments. The Company presents financial assets on a settlement date basis for each category.

Financial assets
The Company recognises among financial instruments the following items, for which measurement
category and value are presented in the table of Financial assets under Note 14.7 a) ‘Fair value of financial
instruments’:
e long term deposits and short term deposits with a maturity of more than 90 days (AC),
e long term securities and short term securities with a maturity of more than 90 days (government
bonds, discount treasury bills) (AC)
e trade receivables, (including trade receivables regarding flights exempted) (AC)
e derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments (FTVPL),
e other non-current and current assets (Extended guarantees and Constructions performed on state
owned assets, and receivables from Eurocontrol arising from TNC settlements) (AC)
e cash and cash equivalents (including bank deposits and securities with a maturity of less than 90
days) (AC).

At initial recognition financial assets are classified on the basis of the objective of the business model and
the contractual cash flow characteristics. The business models are the following:

Debt instruments ‘Held To Collect’ (HTC)
The objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows.

Debt instruments ‘Held To Collect and Sell” (HTCS)
The objective is both collecting contractual cash flows and sale of the financial asset.

Financial instruments — trade receivables excluded - are recognised initially at fair value, which is the fair
value of the consideration given for the item. If there is a difference between amount paid/received and fair
value, the day-one profit/loss shall be recognised (depending on fair value level).
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On the basis of business model and contractual cash flows the classification of financial instruments is the
following:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (AC)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are held in order to collect contractual cash flows (HTC) and
the cash flows contain solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The
financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequently they are carried at amortised cost, which
is initial amount less principal payments and any allowance for impairment. Amortised costs are calculated
by effective interest method.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held in order to both collect
contractual cash flows and sale (HTCS) and the cash flows contain solely payments of principal and interest
and any cash flows from possible sales. The financial assets are recognised initially at fair value adjusted

by transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition. Any change in fair value at subsequent
measurement are designated in other comprehensive income, any allowance for impairment is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at AC or FVTOCIL
However, at initial recognition the Company can make an irrevocable election for particular investments in
equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at FVTPL to present subsequent changes in FVTOCIL.
Any change in fair value at subsequent measurement related to derivatives, positive changes in fair value
are recognised in comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

The Company recognises as financial liabilities the following items:

trade payables,

derivative financial instruments designated as hedges,

bank loans and lease liabilities,

other long-term and short-term liabilities (including liabilities related to leases and grants received).
Financial liabilities can be categorised as follows:

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities are held to sale or at initial recognition are irrevocably designated at fair value at profit
or loss, because they eliminate or significantly reduce a measurement or recognition inconsistency. Any
change in fair value are recognised in comprehensive income at subsequent measurement.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (AC)
All financial liabilities shall be measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for
financial liabilities measured at FVTPL.
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Subsequent measurement of financial instruments:

Fair value measurement
For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined by reference

to quoted market prices at the close of business on the date of Statement of Financial Position without any
deduction for transaction costs. For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is
determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same
or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment
discounted at the expected rate of return.

Derecognition of financial assets
Derecognition of a financial asset takes place when the Company no longer controls the contractual rights

that comprise the financial asset, which is normally the case when the instrument is sold, or all the cash
flows attributable to the instrument are passed through to an independent third party. When the Company
neither transfers nor retains all the risks and rewards of the financial asset and continues to control the
transferred asset, it recognises its retained interest in the asset and a liability for the amounts it may have to

pay.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. Impairment losses on financial assets are presented in line
‘Impairment’ in profit or loss. If the Company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that those terms and conditions no longer met, the Company measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses at the current reporting date. The
Company recognises in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses
(or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required
to be recognised. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive income
statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal
date.

The Company applies the following credit qualification method for expected credit loss assessment based
on the ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model described IFRS 9 Standard:

Stage Credit quality Amount of expected credit loss
Stage 1 Financial instruments at initial recognition 12-month expected credit losses
Stage 2 Financial instruments that have significant increase in credit risk  Lifetime expected credit loss
Stage 3 Non-performing financial assets Lifetime expected credit loss

- Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets Lifetime expected credit loss

44



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

All financial instruments are qualified as Stage 1 at initial recognition. The financial instrument will be
qualified as Stage 2, if a significant increase in credit risk is determined since initial recognition. The
Company determines the significant increase in credit risk after considering the reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue costs. If the instrument is considered to be in
default, it falls under Stage 3.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Company prepares a full review of the investment partners as necessary, but at least once a year as
required by the Investment Rules and Regulations of the Company (BFSZ). In the course of the review, the
Company solicit proposals from those the credit institutions, that are deemed suitable for investment based
on qualitative information. The qualitative information cover a broad range of management approaches,
including market behaviour, capital market valuation, profitability, asset quality, liquidity and capital
adequacy, non-performance and bankruptcy risk, furthermore examines and values data based on the ratings
of internationally recognised by credit rating agencies. In addition, the qualitative analysis also includes an
examination of the MNB's (National Bank of Hungary) Financial Stability Report, which examines the
state of the banking system as a whole. The assessment of the cooperation with each counterparty includes
all relevant circumstances that have a significant influence on the cooperation. On the basis of the
assessment, the Company decides, if necessary, on the modification of the investment partner structure and
the application of any restrictions.

Between the period of the annual reviews the Company monitors the quality criteria of the investment
partners on an ongoing basis. The Company prepares a weekly liquidity report, which assesses published
news on investment partners, flash reports, credit ratings and changes in capital market valuations. If the
Company observes a change in the risk assessment based on the mentioned sources of information, the
Company may decide to carry out a full qualitative review of the investment partner, that can lead to an
exclusion from the partnership, or the Company can reduce the investment limit on a partner-specific basis,
or can introduce any other restrictions.

Default occurs when the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

A financial asset qualifies as credit —impaired when information is observed by the Company that estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset are not expected to be received.

The ECL model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investments measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, contract assets under IFRS 15, financial guarantee contracts
and financial lease receivables.

The Company applies lifetime expected credit loss measurement for trade receivables by using a provision
matrix which is described in Note 14.2.

As an exception to the general model, the Company measures 12-month expected credit loss for securities
and fixed deposits based on low credit risk (detailed in Note 14.3).
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Low credit risk

Based on the Investment Rules and Regulations of the Company, a very narrow range of financial
instruments can be invested in, which are all characterised by a very low level of market risk. The expected
return on financial instruments should be well predictable and the price of the investments should show
only limited volatility by their nature. Based on internal rules, the Company invests its free cash exclusively
in debt securities issued by the Hungarian State (that are primary and preferred investment instruments). In
addition to, if the Company's liquidity profile requires so, it invests in bank deposits that are provided by
the investment partners (that are secondary investment instruments). The investment partners are
considered safe up to the investment limit/sub-limit set for them at the time of review, i.e. any form of
investment - described by the Investment Rules and Regulations - can be made up to the maximum
limit/sub-limit.

The debt securities issued by the Hungarian State have an investment grade rating (according to Moody's
at least Baa3, S&P at least BBB-, Fitch at least BBB-) and the Company bears the risk of default to the
Hungarian State. The above mentioned debt securities belong to the lowest risk category according to the
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID).

Investments on bank deposits are unavoidable for the Company's operations and their usage is linked to the
liquidity profile. In the case of bank deposits, the Company bears the risk of default to its partner banks.
The purpose of the annual investment partner review and the mid-year continuous review is to ensure that
the Company has the most up-to-date available information to review and, if necessary, adjust the risk
assessment of the investment partners. Thereby the Company regulates its maximum exposure to the
investment partners. Short-term bank deposits at partner banks are also included in the lowest risk category
under the MiFID Directive.

Cash flow hedges
When accounting for hedging transactions, the Company acts in accordance with the IFRS 9 standard. The
Company concludes cash flow hedge contracts in order to hedge foreign currency risk from foreign

currency cash flows. At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Company formally designates and
documents the hedge relationship to which the Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification
of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the
entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged
item’s cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in
achieving offsetting changes in cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they
actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were
designated.

Hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows: cash flow hedge is
a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect the comprehensive
income statement. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly
as other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as financial income or expense.

Amounts taken to other comprehensive income are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income
when the hedged transaction affects the comprehensive income, such as when hedged financial income or
financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item is the
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cost of a nonfinancial asset or liability, the amounts previously taken to equity are transferred to the initial
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are transferred to the statement of comprehensive income. If the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge
is revoked, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income remain in other comprehensive
income until the forecast transaction occurs. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the amount
is taken to the statement of comprehensive income.

Fair value Hedges

The Company designates the hedge as a fair value hedge in the following cases:

e the hedged item - that was related to a cash flow hedge transaction - is terminated,

e in the event of termination of that hedged item that was related to a cash flow hedge, the offsetting
(closing) transaction (foreign exchange sale or purchase) of the original transaction,

e when the hedged item related to the cash flow hedge is recognised in the statement of financial
position, the difference in fair value at the settlement date is recognised as an adjustment (increase
or decrease) to the cost of the asset (investment) or inventory. Subsequently, the transaction is
measured as a fair value hedge until maturity of the transaction.

For fair value hedges, the revaluation difference is recognised as income or expense from financial
activities. When there is a change in fair value, the revaluation difference is increased or decreased against
income or expense from financial activities depending on the nature of the change. Valuation differences
on the statement of financial position are eliminated against profit or loss on the date of maturity.
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14.1. Long term trade receivables and other long term assets

Long term trade receivables

Receivables for cost of flights exempted from charges (further on: flights exempted) from the Hungarian
State are recognised as short term and long term assets and are credited to revenue from air navigation
services (Note 5.). The term of payment is two years, as defined in a government decree. These balances
are discounted by yields of government bonds with two years maturity. The interest income on discounting
recognised for 2024 was HUF 49 million (2023: HUF 59 million).

Outstanding balances of long term trade receivables from flights exempted are presented among non-
current assets. The balances due are broken down:

amounts in million HUF

Long term trade receivables December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Ministry of Defence 644 659
Ministry of Construction and Transport 66 71
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 33 33

Total exempted flights 743 763
Due in one year 361 391

out of this: provision (1) (2)
Due over one year 384 376
out of this: provision (1) (2)

HUF 454 million of the total outstanding balance of Receivables from exempted flights was settled in 2024
(2023: HUF 618 million). Additional balance established for 2024 was HUF 384 million (2023: HUF 376
million).

Other long term assets

The balances of other long term assets due are broken down

amounts in million HUF

Other long term assets December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Extended warranty 21 18
Due in one year 10 1
Due over one year 11 17
Constructions performed on state owned assets 179 313
Due in one year 81 263
Due over one year 98 50
Total due in one year 91 264
Total due over one year 109 67

The long-term part of the warranty extension purchased regarding intangible assets and fixed assets is
presented in this financial statement line with the amount of HUF 11 million in 2024 (2023: HUF 17
million). This warranty extension can not be accounted in the cost of assets.
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The constructions performed on state owned assets are transferred to MNV Plc after the completion, that
is why in 2024 HUF 81 million is presented in line ‘Other current assets’ (in 2023: HUF 263 million and
HUF 98 million is presented in line ‘Other long term assets’ (in 2023: HUF 50 million). The change in the
short-term part is due to the settlement of the investments constructed in 2023 with MNV Plc. The increase
in the long-term part is due to the amount of new investments constructed in 2024.

14.2. Trade receivables and other current assets
Accounting policies

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at their transaction price based on IFRS 15 if the trade
and other receivables do not contain a significant financing component and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less loss allowances. A loss allowance of trade and other
receivables is established in the amount of lifetime expected credit loss calculated by a provision matrix
based on IFRS 9.

Trade receivables can be sorted into the following four groups for which the loss rates are reviewed by the
Company on a yearly basis:

En Route segment: Trade receivables from air space users are managed, collected and enforced by Central
Route Charges Office (‘CRCO’) of EUROCONTROL. Based on the qualification of EUROCONTOL users
are classified in categories of active and default. The Company makes a loss allowance of 100% for default
users and determines the loss rates for each ageing group regarding active users. Loss rates of the provision
matrix are based on historical information. The loss rates are calculated as the average of last three years’
historical rates in case of each default category. The Company computes the amounts of the default
categories with given loss rates from which realizes the loss allowances.

TNC segment: Loss allowance is determined by the same methodology as applied in En Route segment.

Kosovo segment: Loss allowance is determined by the same methodology as applied in En Route segment.

Exempted flights: The amount of trade receivables from the Hungarian State is settled approximately in

two years. The Company recognises the discounted amount of receivables in case of exempted flights taking
into account the time value of the money.

The loss allowance for provision is also recognised when there is objective evidence about the significant
increase in credit risk of the partner and the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the underlying arrangement.

Due to invoicing policy, average outstanding balance of receivables equals to two months sales turnover.
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Classification of assets as non-current and current in the financial statements

The Company classifies an asset as current when:
e it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operating cycle;
e it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading;
e it expects to realise the asset within twelve months after the reporting period; or
o the asset is cash or a cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used to
settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
The Company classifies all other assets as non-current.

The following table shows the breakdown of trade receivables by Stage:

amounts in million HUF

Receivables Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Trade receivables 8,868 1,293 10,161
Intercompany receivable 18 0 18
Allowances (31) (1,091) (1,122)

Total December 31, 2024 8,855 202 9,057
Trade receivables 9,642 1,562 11,204
Intercompany receivable 17 0 17
Allowances (52) (1,414) (1,466)

Total December 31, 2023 9,607 148 9,755

The decrease in trade receivables is due to the decrease in the annual unit rates used for invoicing instead
of the significant increase in the number of service units (SU) of the payable traffic compared to the
previous year. The decrease was slightly offset by the change in euro exchange rate used for the year-end
valuation, which was higher in the vast majority of cases compared to the exchange rate used for invoicing.
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Loss allowance for doubtful debts was the following by Stage:

amounts in million HUF

Loss allowance for doubtful debts Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning of the year 52 1,414 1,466
Increase in loss allowances 78 77 155
Decrease in allowances (30) (86) (116)
Write-off of irrecoverable debts 0 (475) (475)
Reclassification of exempted flights between long-short receivables 2 0 2
Realised exchange rate difference 0 26 26
Foreign exchange movement in the year (1) 65 64

Balance December 31, 2024 101 1,021 1,122
Balance at the beginning of the year 102 1,390 1,492
Increase in loss allowances 98 138 236
Decrease in allowances (71) (131) (202)
Foreign exchange movement in the year 0 (60) (60)

Balance December 31, 2023 129 1,337 1,466

Ageing of the trade receivable balances by Stages:

amounts in million HUF

December 31, 2024 Tl e husness  buomess domestic _foregn
Not overdue 8,746 6,351 1,701 195 478 21
Within 1 month 140 126 7 7 0 0
Total Stage 2 8,886 6,477 1,708 202 478 21
Overdue, between 1 -3 months 192 183 1 8 0 0
Overdue, between 3-6 months 59 55 1 3 0 0
Overdue, between 6-12 months 9 8 1 0 0 0
Overdue, over 12 months 330 279 37 13 1 0
Insolvent 703 653 19 31 0 0
Total Stage 3 1,293 1,178 59 55 1 0
Total 10,179 7,655 1,767 257 479 21
amounts in million HUF

December 31, 2023 Total En-r:oute Terr'ninal Kos..ovo Other. Oth'er

business business business domestic foreign
Not overdue 9,462 7,285 1,471 252 426 28
Within 1 month 197 175 11 11 0 0
Total Stage 2 9,659 7,460 1,482 263 426 28
Overdue, between 1 -3 months 152 137 7 8 0 0
Overdue, between 3-6 months 26 14 11 1 0 0
Overdue, between 6-12 months 11 7 3 1 0 0
Overdue, over 12 months 589 463 112 13 1 0
Insolvent 784 721 31 32 0 0
Total Stage 3 1,562 1,342 164 55 1 0
Total 11,221 8,802 1,646 318 427 28
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Aged balances of loss allowances by Stage:

amounts in million HUF

December 31, 2024 Total En-n:oute Terr'ninal Ko§ovo Other. Oth.er

business business business domestic foreign
Not overdue 27 26 0 0 1 0
Within 1 month 4 4 0 0 0 0
Total Stage 2 31 30 0 0 1 0
Overdue, between 1 -3 months 24 23 0 1 0 0
Overdue, between 3-6 months 30 29 0 1 0 0
Overdue, between 6-12 months 7 6 1 0 0 0
Overdue, over 12 months 327 277 36 13 1 0
Insolvent 703 653 19 31 0 0
Total Stage 3 1,091 988 56 46 1 0
Total 1,122 1,018 56 46 2 0
amounts in million HUF

December 31, 2023 Total En-n:oute Terr.ninal Ko§ovo Other. Oth.er

business business business domestic foreign
Not overdue 45 41 1 1 2 0
Within 1 month 7 6 0 1 0 0
Total Stage 2 52 47 1 2 2 0
Overdue, between 1 -3 months 24 20 2 2 0 0
Overdue, between 3-6 months 11 7 4 0 0 0
Overdue, between 6-12 months 8 6 2 0 0 0
Overdue, over 12 months 587 463 110 13 1 0
Insolvent 784 721 31 32 0 0
Total Stage 3 1,414 1,217 149 47 1 0
Total 1,466 1,264 150 49 3 0
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Applied loss allowance rates:

Loss Allowance rate Segment December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Not overdue En-route 0.40% 0.57%
Within 1 month En-route 3.01% 3.44%
Overdue, between 1 -3 months En-route 12.75% 14.64%
Overdue, between 3-6 months En-route 53.36% 45.28%
Overdue, between 6-12 months En-route 83.64% 83.43%
Overdue, over 12 months En-route 98.01% 98.51%
Insolvent En-route 100.00% 100.00%
Not overdue Terminal 0.02% 0.09%
Within 1 month Terminal 0.54% 1.84%
Overdue, between 1 -3 months Terminal 8.84% 27.64%
Overdue, between 3-6 months Terminal 38.08% 36.27%
Overdue, between 6-12 months Terminal 76.84% 61.66%
Overdue, over 12 months Terminal 96.38% 94.33%
Insolvent Terminal 100.00% 100.00%
Not overdue Kosovo 0.09% 0.50%
Within 1 month Kosovo 1.86% 5.06%
Overdue, between 1 -3 months Kosovo 6.75% 20.78%
Overdue, between 3-6 months Kosovo 34.48% 52.74%
Overdue, between 6-12 months Kosovo 77.71% 79.71%
Overdue, over 12 months Kosovo 98.69% 98.36%
Insolvent Kosovo 100.00% 100.00%
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Balances of other current assets at the end of the reporting periods occurred as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Other current assets December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Value added tax 1,181 1,336
Changes in fair value of cash-flow hedges (gain) 156 89
Other receivables 103 85
Advances given 98 593
Receivable from investments on state owned assets 81 263
Receivable from accrued income for ongoing government grants 68 70
Receivable from Eurocontrol - TNC sales 26 35
Bad debt allowances (1) (2)

Total other receivables 1,712 2,470
Accrued interest income on deposits fixed 85 16
Other income accrued 13 1

Total accrued income 98 17
Services prepaid 1,902 1,523

Total prepaid expenses 1,902 1,523

Other current assets 3,712 4,010

The line ‘Services prepaid’ includes expenses, which are billed in the reporting period, however effect
future reporting periods. Such expenses are, among others, on-line services, software-support, insurance
fees and membership fees.

14.3. Cash and cash equivalents, other financial assets

Cash is carried at cost in the financial statements. Cash denominated in foreign currency is revalued at the
end of the reporting period. The exchange rate used by the Company is the closing rate of the National
Bank of Hungary (MNB) at the Statement of Financial Position date, unrealised gains and losses are
recognised in the financial result.

The following items are classified as cash and cash equivalents:

e Bank deposits: The Company’s bank accounts held in local and foreign currency, and short-term
deposits. Bank overdrafts are not part of cash, they are recognised as short-term loans among
liabilities.

e (Cash equivalents: In practice, these are securities with a maturity not longer than 3 months from
the date of purchase and have a minimal risk of value fluctuations (e.g. discount treasury bills). The
credit risk of bank balances is measured by the Company through a risk review of the investment
partner banks.
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Balances of cash and cash equivalents at year ends are as follows in the order of liquidity:

amounts in million HUF

Cash and cash equivalents December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Current accounts HUF 135 1,549
Current accounts in foreign currency 83 703
Fixed deposits HUF - within 3 months 9,917 14,768

Cash at banks 10,135 17,020

Cash and cash equivalents 10,135 17,020

Balances of invested financial assets, securities and other financial assets at year ends are as follows in the
order of Statement of Financial Position lines:

amounts in million HUF

Other financial items December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Based on business model, Financial assets held to collect
- . . 4,190 3,608

contractual cash flows (government securities) with maturity over 1 year

Long term securities 4,190 3,608
Based on business model, Flna?n.aal a§sets held. to c9|l§ct contractual 15,047 23,602
cash flows (government securities) with maturity within 1 year

Short term securities 15,047 23,692
Fixed deposits foreign currency - within 1 year over 3 months 17 15

Other financial assets 17 15

Long term bank deposits are considered to have low credit risk, the loss allowance regarding instruments
are measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit loss based on Expected Credit Loss model.
The investment banks of the Company are determined with regard to specific conditions detailed in Note
14.7 b). Based on the information the amount of loss allowance is not significant and therefore it is not
recognised. The rate of expected credit loss is reviewed regularly by the Company and will be adjusted if
information becomes available about any expected credit loss increase.
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The Company made separate investments in connection with the obligations included in the Air Controller
Career Agreement (ACCA) and performs annual reviews and adjustments on the necessary accounts. The
maturity structure of the investments is adjusted to the expected settlement date of the undertaken
obligations. The table below shows the investments regarding Air Controller Career Agreement:

amounts in million HUF

Investment of Air Controller Career Agreement (ACCA)* December 31,2024 December 31, 2023

ACCA - Based on business model, Financial assets held to collect contractual

L . . 4,190 3,608

cash flows (government securities) with maturity over 1 year
ACCA - Cash and cash equivalents 968 868
Total 5,158 4,476

*Detailed information about Air Controller Career Agreement are disclosed under Note 16.

14.4. Long term liabilities
Accounting policy
Lease liabilities

Based on the requirements of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ Standard applied by the Company, the lease contracts are
recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Financial Statements (in Other long-term and
short-term liabilities), applying the exemption of short-term leases and exemption of leases for which
underlying asset is low of value (recognition exemptions). Right-of-use assets are presented separately in
tangible assets, it is detailed in Chapter 12.

Based on guidance of IFRS 16.9 a contract contains a lease, if:
e the contract identifies the asset(s)
e the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
e in exchange for consideration.

For a contract that contains more lease components, the consideration in the contract has to be allocated to
each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone price. The Company allocated the
consideration of the lease contracts to components according to the requirements.

For a contract that contains lease components and one or more non-lease components (e.g. maintenance,
recharged utility expenses), the consideration has to be allocated on the basis of stand-alone price of lease
components and the aggregate the stand-alone price of non-lease components. The aggregated price of non-
lease components is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income accordingly.

The Company elected the practical expedient allowed under IFRS 16.5 only regarding lease of vehicles.
Under this practical expedient the Company does not separate non-lease components from lease
components, instead accounts for the non-lease components as part of the lease component.
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The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both:
e periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and
e periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably certain not to
exercise that option.

At the commencement date the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate.

In determining the interest rate, the Company takes into account the reference yield of the Zero-coupon rate
of GDMA (Government Debt Management Agency) according to the term of the liability, and adjusts it by
market information of MNB’s (National Bank of Hungary) statistics, that align with the currency of the
lease; and in addition to the Company adjusts the rate with the company specific lending spread according
to the latest available bank offer, that is the nearest to the date of recognition of the lease.

At commencement date, lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the
following payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:
o fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable,
e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date,
e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees,
e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option,
e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
After the commencement date, the lease liability is measured by:
e increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
e reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and
e remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

The amounts of lease liabilities at the Statement of Financial Position dates presented were as follows
regarding Intercompany and third-party breakdown:

amounts in million HUF

Lease liabilities December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Intercompany - Asset management 9,282 9,780
Intercompany - Other 596 62
Third party 351 641
Total long-term lease 10,229 10,483
Intercompany - Asset management 894 772
Intercompany - Other 151 26
Third party 76 154
Total short-term lease 1,121 952

Total lease liabilities 11,350 11,435
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The most significant part of lease liabilities (approximately 90% of liabilities) recognised by the Company
under IFRS 16 Standard is represented by the asset management rights of state-owned properties.

Lease liabilities of state-owned properties are determined based on the asset management fee. The asset
management fee is determined in the Hungarian Performance Plan validated by the EU and calculated
according to the relevant EU Regulation (No. 317/2019). The cost of capital used to determine asset
management fee is calculated by a method determined in CAPM (Capital Asset Pricing Model). The cost
of capital is set for the actual performance period covering 5 years. For the succeeding periods it is
recalculated.

The lease fees of the state-owned assets qualify as variable lease payments, because they are determined
by a particular method specified in the asset management contract. Due to the yearly modification of lease
fees the lease liabilities are also recalculated on a yearly basis.

The Company is not committed to any lease agreement not yet commenced at the preparation date of the
Financial Statements. The Company is not exposed to additional extension or termination options that are
not included in the measurement of lease liabilities, and does not own agreements that contain residual
value guarantee exposure.

Other long term liabilities
The balances of other long term liabilities at the reporting date is as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Other long term liabilities December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
EU grants received - long term part* 846 1,146
Liabilities recognised on other long term items 8 100
Long term trade liabilities 34 38
Long term liabilities payable to joint venture 5 5

Total 893 1,289

* Short-term liabilities relating to EU grants are disclosed under Note 14.5.

Detailed information on the grants received is presented under Note 7.
14.5. Trade payables and other short term liabilities

Accounting policy

Other short-term liabilities include, inter alia, the following items:
e Liabilities to central and local government,
e  QGrant advances received,
e Liabilities to employees (non-financial instrument),
e Liabilities to pensions, mutual- and health funds (non-financial instrument),
e  Other liabilities to banks,
e Other liabilities not specified,
e Liabilities arising from income taxes are recognised in a separate Statement of Financial Position
line (non-financial instrument),
e Short-term part of lease liabilities presented in accordance with IFRS 16.
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Items that qualify as non-financial instruments are not subject to disclosure requirements of IFRS 7.
Classification of liabilities as non-current and current in the financial statements

The Company classifies a liability as current when:
e it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle;
e it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading;
o the liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
e it does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.
The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Loans

The balances of loan liabilities at the reporting dates were as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Loans liabilities December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Bank loans 10,500 14,000
Short-term loans at amortised cost 10,500 14,000

At the reporting date, the Company had only revolving credit facilities, which are due to be repaid in 2025.
The overdraft facility at year-end was zero, it has been repaid in full by the Company.
Further details on the loans are presented under Note 14.7 ‘Credit risk management’.

Trade payables

Presentation of ageing of payables is as follows at the year ends:

amounts in million HUF

Ageing of trade payables December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Not due 2,795 3,844
Overdue, within 1 year 36 190
Overdue, between 1 - 5 years* 1 0

Total trade payables 2,832 4,034

* The balance presented in 2024 covers a withheld guarantee amount, the supplier of which is under compulsory cancellation,
so the transfer to the supplier's bank account was unsuccessful.

The Company settles trade payables within the payment term, and had no material overdue payables as of

December 31, 2024 and 2023. The vast majority of trade payables of overdue, within 1 year category is
settled in January 2025.
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amounts in million HUF

Trade payables December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Trade payables - domestic 1,880 2,622
Trade payables - foreign 822 976
Intercompany payables 130 436

Total 2,832 4,034

The Company decided to fully separate all the balances of intercompany payables and to disclose them as

intercompany payables.

The intercompany transactions are presented in Note 17.

Balances of other short term liabilities at the dates presented were as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Other short-term liabilities December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
EU grants - advance payment received* 2,441 2,515
Liabilities to parent company 1,200 1,200
Liabilities from social security 961 259
Personal income tax payable on behalf of the employees 389 261
Short term other liabilities towards various authorities 289 329
Changes in fair value of hedges (loss)** 133 256
Liability from enterprise licensing agreement 96 90
Other short term liabilities 82 90
Liabilities arising on search and rescue operations 65 0

Total other payables 5,656 5,000
EU grants received - short term part* 311 323
Other deferred income 1 1

Total deferred income 312 324
Services, goods delivered but not invoiced till the year end 109 65

Total accrued expenses 109 65

Total 6,077 5,389

* Long-term liabilities relating to EU grants are disclosed under Note 14.4.

** Changes in fair value of cash-flow hedges are disclosed under Notes 14.6 and 14.7.

In 2024 the ‘Liabilities to parent company’ line includes the dividend approved on the basis of the 2019
and 2020 financial statements, the financial settlement will be decided later by the parties.
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14.6. Hedge accounting

The fair value of open transactions designated as hedge were as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Fair value of derivative financial instruments December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Other current assets
Derivative financial instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships 156 89
Hedges - positive fair value

Other current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships 133 256
Hedges - negative fair value

The expected foreign currency cash flows carrying significant exchange rate risks are hedged with forward
currency exchange contracts. Fair value of open forward contracts is recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position among other short term receivables or liabilities.

14.7. Financial risk management

Financial risk management aims to limit the risks through ongoing operational and finance activities.
The Statement of Financial Position included comprises the following categories of financial assets and
liabilities for the dates presented:

a. Fair value of financial instruments according to Statement of Financial Position lines:

amounts in million HUF

Financial L.
Derivative Total .
. . assets at . . . Total fair .
Financial assets . financial carrying Difference
amortised . value
instruments amount
costs

Based on business model, Financial assets held
to collect contractual cash flows (government 4,190 0 4,190 3,026 1,164
securities) with maturity over 1 year

Long term trade receivables 383 0 383 383 0
Other long term assets 109 0 109 109 0
Trade receivables 9,057 0 9,057 9,057 0

Other current assets excluding taxes,
prepayments and accrued income, receivables 107 0 107 107 0
from employees

Derivative financial instruments in designated

. . . 0 156 156 156 0
hedge accounting relationships

Based on business model, Financial assets held
to collect contractual cash flows (government 15,047 0 15,047 15,024 23
securities) with maturity above 1 year

Fixed deposits - within 1 year over 3 months 17 0 17 17 0
Cash and cash equivalents 10,135 0 10,135 10,135 0
Total as per December 31, 2024 39,045 156 39,201 38,014 1,187
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amounts in million HUF

AR EE Derivative Total .
. . assets at ) . . Total fair .
Financial assets . financial carrying Difference
amortised . value
instruments amount
costs
Based on business model, Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash flows (government 3,608 0 3,608 2,701 907
securities) with maturity over 1 year
Long term trade receivables 374 0 374 374 0
Other long term assets 67 0 67 67 0
Trade receivables 9,755 0 9,755 9,755 0
Other current assets excluding taxes,
prepayments and accrued income, receivables 298 0 298 298 0
from employees
Derivative f|nar1C|a| |nst.rume.nts in designated 0 89 89 89 0
hedge accounting relationships
Based on business model, Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash flows (government 23,692 0 23,692 23,720 (28)
securities) with maturity above 1 year
Fixed deposits - within 1 year over 3 months 15 0 15 15 0
Cash and cash equivalents 17,020 0 17,020 17,020 0
Total as per December 31, 2023 54,829 89 54,918 54,039 879

The difference between the fair value and the book value of securities is resulted from a decrease in the
exchange rate due to increased yields, which is also reflected in the amount of the fair value of the bank.

The financial assets are free of all liens, claims and encumbrances.
The Company's best estimate of the carrying amount of Other long term assets and Trade receivables is the

same as their fair value.
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amounts in million HUF

Financial Derivative
Financial liabilities I|ab|||t|.es at financial UELELCET it LB Difference
amortised . amount value
instruments
cost

Other long term liabilities excluding liability of 13 0 13 13 0
government grants
Long term trade liabilities 34 0 34 34 0
Loans 10,500 0 10,500 10,500 0
Trade payables 2,832 0 2,832 2,832 0
Derivative f|nar1C|a| |nst_rume.nts in designated 0 133 133 133 0
hedge accounting relationships
Other short-term liabilities excluding taxes,
payables to employees, accruals and deferred 35 0 35 35 0
income

Total as per December 31, 2024 13,414 133 13,547 13,547 0
Other long term liabilities excluding liability of 105 0 105 105 0
government grants
Long term trade liabilities 38 0 38 38 0
Loans 14,000 0 14,000 14,000 0
Trade payables 4,034 0 4,034 4,034 0
Derivative flnar.mal mst.rume.nts in designated 0 256 256 256 0
hedge accounting relationships
Other short-term liabilities excluding taxes,
payables to employees, accruals and deferred 25 0 25 25 0
income

Total as per December 31, 2023 18,202 256 18,458 18,458 0

Government grants, taxes, accruals and prepayments are presented under Note 14.5.

The book values of trade receivables decreased by loss allowances and trade payables approximate to their
fair values.

Cash and cash equivalents, fixed deposits, discount treasury bills with a maturity less than 3 month, other
current assets and other short term liabilities have short term maturities, therefore their carrying amount
approximate to their fair values at the Statement of Financial Position dates presented.

Other long term financial assets

Other long term assets owed by government authorities were described under Note 14.1 in detail. For
discounted cash flow method, the Company used risk free interest rate (zero coupon rates derived from the
yield curve of government bonds as published by the Government Debt Management Agency, webpage:
www.akk.hu).

Other long term liabilities

The book value of intercompany payable as disclosed under Note 17 approximates its fair value. The
balance of Other long term liabilities as of December 31 2024 mainly contains the obligations from

retention warranty of trade payable balances, the fair value of which approximates their carrying value.
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The fair value of forward exchange contracts

The fair value of forward exchange contracts represents the unrealized gain or loss on revaluation of the
contracts to year end exchange rates and is expected to be realized within one year. The fair values used
are the mark-to market values calculated by the partner banks.

Changes in liabilities due to financing activities

amounts in million HUF

Cash flow e
. . January 1, from Lease - December 31,
Analysis of Liabilities 2024 e increase exchange Interest Other 2024
L movement

activities
Short term loans 14,000 (3,809) 0 0 309 0 10,500
Lease liabilities 11,435 (1,216) 530 33 789 (221) 11,350
Dividend payable 1,200 (9,000) 0 0 0 9,000 1,200
Other. I|ab||i|t|es fr.or.n. 5,478 0 0 0 0 292 5,770
non-financing activities
Total 32,113 (14,025) 530 33 1,098 9,071 28,820

* The Other category includes lease derecognition, and reclassification items that do not involve cash flow.

amounts in million HUF

Cash flow e
X e ere January 1, from Lease * December 31,
Analysis of Liabilities 2023 AT increase exchange Interest Other 2023
L movement

activities
Short term loans 0 13,716 0 0 284 0 14,000
Lease liabilities 11,754 (1,184) 266 (23) 814 (192) 11,435
Dividend payable 1,200 (8,000) 0 0 0 8,000 1,200
Other. I|ab||.|t|es fr_or_n_ 3,499 0 0 0 0 1,979 5,478
non-financing activities
Total 16,453 4,532 266 (23) 1,098 9,787 32,113

* The Other category includes lease derecognition, and reclassification items that do not involve cash flow.

Fair value hierarchy

The fair values used can be grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable.
e Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).
e Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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The fair value of financial assets measured at amortised cost and most of the financial liabilities has been
identified by using Level 2 information and discounted cash flow valuation techniques if applicable. The
estimated cash flow streams are based on the contractual terms, whereas the discounts rates are the risk-
free, before tax rates (zero coupon rates derived from the yield curve of government bonds). The financial
instruments denominated in foreign currencies are revalued by using the foreign exchange rate issued by
the National Bank of Hungary.

The Company does not possess any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value where fair values
were identified based on Level 3 information.

HungaroControl has instruments valued at Level 2 — valuation derived from market prices. The fair values
used for valuation of derivative financial instruments and government securities are identical to the mark-
to-market valuations received from the banks at each month end.

There were not any transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in case of financial instruments that are measured
at fair value.

b. Financial risk management

The Company monitors and manages financial risks relating to its operations. The Company has clear
policies and operating parameters. The Supervisory Board provides oversight of the Company. The
Treasury function does not operate as a profit centre and the undertaking of speculative transactions is not
permitted. The principal financial risks arising from the Company’s activities include market risk (including
currency risk, interest rate risk and inflation risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates, interest rates and inflation rates. There is a special risk arising from the provision of air navigation
services. These risks and the methods they are managed by are explained below.

Foreign currency risk management

The Company’s principal exposure to foreign currency transaction risk is in relation to its foreign currency
revenues and expenditures.

Revenue from air navigation services account for 99.4% of the Company’s turnover. In the Hungarian En
Route and terminal navigation segments — operated in the framework of the performance scheme — foreign
exchange risk is borne by the service providers, thus, borne by the Company. Fees for air navigation
services are set in Hungarian Forint, but are billed and collected in Euro. The conversion rate used is the
average of the daily closing Reuters-rates for the month prior to the billing period (‘n-1"). To mitigate the
risk of movements in exchange rates between the date of determining the unit charges (average rate of ‘n-
1’) and the date on which the funds are remitted (‘n+2’) to HungaroControl, foreign currency forward
contracts are concluded. The Company hedges its expected cash flow from sales revenue of the Hungarian
en-route and terminal segments based on hedging limits set in its foreign currency risk hedging policy.

In respect of air navigation services provided in Kosovo airspace the charges are set in Serbian dinar. These
revenue streams are not hedged but as these represent a relatively small portion of revenue (2024: 3%,
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2023: 3%) do not represent a significant foreign exchange exposure. Furthermore, in the Kosovo segments,
due to the full cost recovery mechanism the risk arising on changes of foreign exchange rates can be
transferred onto the airlines, since exchange differences are included in the respective cost bases.

The Company also hedges the foreign exchange risks arising from foreign currency cash expenditures
related to significant firm commitments, and also foreign currency cash flows posing other significant risks.
For these foreign currency cash flows, the hedging period is a maximum of 18 months that is adjusted to
the Company's planning cycle.

The amount of trade receivables denominated in foreign currency exceeds the amount of trade payables
denominated in foreign currency. The carrying amount of the Company's monetary assets and monetary
liabilities denominated in foreign currency were as follows:

Currency FX rates at year-end Assets (in foreign currency) Assets (in million HUF)
2024, December 2023, December || 2024, December 2023, December || 2024, December 2023, December
EUR 410.09 382.78 20,497,276 26,360,694 8,406 10,090
usD 393.60 346.44 46,447 7,383 18 3
Currency FX rates at year-end Liabilities (in foreign currency) Liabilities (in million HUF)
2024, December 2023, December || 2024, December 2023, December || 2024, December 2023, December
EUR 410.09 382.78 9,915,137 12,669,040 4,066 4,850
usD 393.60 346.44 917,466 996,405 361 345

Foreign currency assets include cash- and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other short term
receivables. Liabilities presented comprised of trade payables and other short term liability items.

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Company concludes forward contracts to hedge its significant foreign currency risk from expected cash
flows. The Company designated these forward contracts as cash flow hedges. With the hedging transactions
the Company aims to secure the HUF value of its firm commitments.

EUR forward sale contracts to hedge revenues expire within 4 months, while EUR and USD forward
purchase contracts to hedge trade payables expire within a maximum 18 months.
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The following contracts were outstanding at year end:

amounts in million HUF

Expenditure 2 G
December 31, 2024 UG IR hedge IR Total
(EUR sold) (EUR bought) (Usb
& bought)

Currency EUR EUR usD -
Currency amount (29,828,000) 19,287,546 3,436,945 -
HUF amount (12,274) 8,211 1,293 (2,770)

Fair value of open forward contracts at year end
Valuation reserve (fair value Gain/ (Loss)) 124 (14) 69 179
Ineffective part included in Comprehensive Income (77) 7 0 (70)
Effective part included in Other Comprehensive Income (113) 0 0 (113)
Effective part included in cost of assets 0 4 0 4
Irltere.st |.ncome from swap points included in line item 23 0 0 23
financial income

Total (43) (3) 69 23

amounts in million HUF
Revenue hedge Expenditure Exp:en: ':U"e
December 31, 2023 g hedge g Total
(EURsold)  \euRbought)  (YSP
& bought)

Currency EUR EUR usD -
Currency amount (30,906,000) 9,242,136 3,172,754 -
HUF amount (11,997) 3,711 1,249 (7,037)

Fair value of open forward contracts at year end
Valuation reserve (fair value Gain /(Loss)) (257) 85 (131) (303)
Ineffective part included in Comprehensive Income 22 (3) 0 19
Effective part included in Other Comprehensive Income 203 0 0 203
Effective part included in cost of assets 0 (171) 0 (171)
Iﬁtere.st |r1come from swap points included in line item 85 0 0 85
financial income

Total 53 (89) (131) (167)

All of the above forecast transactions hedged are expected to occur. In connection with these forward
contracts the amount deferred in equity will be realized in the statement of comprehensive income when
the hedged transaction has an impact on the result.
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The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the financial years
2024 and 2023:

amounts in million HUF

Amou!1ts fecognlsefl |n. statement of comprehensive income in relation December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

to derivative financial instruments
Interest recognised in Comprehensive Income and included in financial

. . 495 1,666
results (swap points received)
Ingffectlve part of fair value hedges included in financial results )8 (140)
gain/(loss)
Ingffective part of cash flow hedges included in financial results (240) (253)
gain/ (loss)
Amount that was removed from equity and recognised in sales balance (524) 203
gain/ (loss)

Total gain/(loss) on cash flow hedge transactions (241) 1,476
Fair value change of open hedge forward contracts at year end included 73 (226)
in other comprehensive income (fair value reserve at year end)

Total result of cash flow hedges included in equity balance (168) 1,250

At year end the gain charged to other comprehensive income was HUF 299 million in 2024, while it was
HUF 678 million loss in 2023.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Company has the most significant exposure to EUR in relation to revenue and trade receivables
balances as this is the billing currency. Thus, the sensitivity analysis is focused on this currency.

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 3% increase or decrease in the value of HUF
against EUR. The Company considered movements in EUR over the last five years and concluded that 3%
is the sensitivity rate that represents a reasonably possible change and benchmark in EUR-rates against
HUF. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit and equity and a negative number a reduction
in profit and equity. There would be an equal and opposite impact on profit and equity if EUR devalues by
3% against HUF.

The sensitivity analysis for Statement of Financial Position items includes foreign currency cash balances,
trade receivables, trade payables, other short term liabilities, receivables denominated in EUR and foreign
exchange forward contracts, and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 3% change in EUR rate.
We disclose the effect on the statement of comprehensive income and equity at the end of the reporting
period assuming that a reasonably possible change in the relevant risk variable had occurred at that date.
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amounts in million HUF

Assets Liabilities Impact:nuri)troflt L Impact on equit
Percentage HUF/EUR (+) Increase in profit (+) Increase in profit q y . P o quity
(-) Reduction in profit (-) Reduction in profit G ULCEES L B
(-) Reduction in profit

2024
103%  422.39 252 (122) 130 0.4%
100%  410.09 0 0 0 0.0%

97%  397.79 (252) 122 (130) (0.4%)
2023
103% 394.26 303 (145) 158 0.4%
100%  382.78 0 0 0 0.0%

97%  371.30 (303) 145 (158) (0.4%)

Without derivative contracts a 3% devaluation in HUF against EUR would cause a 0.4% increase in the
fair value of the net position of items denominated in EUR i.e. in retained earnings and the financial results
in 2024 (the same figure is 0.4% as well regarding 2023) — supposing that all other factors remain
unchanged. This means that the exposure of the Company against EUR is not significant and financial
results are moderately sensitive for the change in HUF/EUR rates.

A similar examination using 5% change in rates would result in a 0.7% change in retained earnings for
2024, and 0.7% for 2023.

Same assumptions as introduced above would result in the following fair value changes in the value of
derivative contracts open at the year end.

amounts in million HUF

Effect on profit for the year Effect on equity balance
Percentage HUF/EUR (+) Increase in profit (+) Increase in profit
(-) Reduction in profit (-) Reduction in profit
2024
103% 422.39 (223) 93
100% 410.09 0 0
97% 397.79 223 (93)
2023
103% 394.26 (248) 47
100% 382.78 0 0
97% 371.30 248 (47)
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The following table represents the results of an assumed devaluation and appreciation of trade receivables
balance off-set by the hedge reserve balance at year end using the same assumptions for both of the
balances.

amounts in million HUF

Impact on profit and equity Im:aec(;cgci):gerqet;ietzv\;vith
Percentage HUF/EUR Trade receivables ((;-)I‘r::i:;eni?nprofi? ey
: il (-) Reduction in profit
2024
103% 422.39 8,900 259 116
100% 410.09 8,641 0 0
97% 397.79 8,382 (259) (116)
2023
103% 394.26 9,612 280 184
100% 382.78 9,332 0 0
97% 371.30 9,052 (280) (184)

Year-end revaluation

The results of year end revaluation of items in the Statement of Financial Position were as follows: HUF
248 million loss at the end of 2024 (2023: HUF 123 million gain).

Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk from interest bearing assets and liabilities

The Company invested a significant part of the funds not required for short-term financing in fixed interest
rate bank deposits, discount treasury bills and government bonds.

The main aim of the Company is to assure its liquidity; investment of free cash to obtain yields is a
secondary objective only. Therefore, the possible investment options are limited to fixed bank deposits in
HUF or EUR discount treasury bills and government bonds issued by the Hungarian State, or financial
instruments issued by the National Bank of Hungary. Hence the exposure of the Company towards changes
in interest rates via financial assets owned is practically very limited.

The risk exposure of the Company is determined as the follows: fixed bank deposits 100%, except the
deposits at investment banks with specific liquidity reasons and with an original maturity less than 5
working days (including the cash balance held on current accounts, i.e. not tied up) where a 0% risk weight
is used. Forward transactions carry different risk weights based on the time frame specified in the
transactions. The risk weight is 8% for transactions up to 6 months, 12% for transactions longer than 6
months but up to 12 months, and 16% for transactions longer than 12 months but up to 18 months —in each
case, based on the nominal (forint-deliverable) value of the transaction. Regarding the government
securities held on securities account at various investment partners a 20% weight risk has been determined.
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The balances of deposits were as follows:

2024 2023

Annual Interest rate Amounts Amounts
HUF-deposits held million HUF million HUF

6% - 7% 9,917 14,768
Total 9,917 14,768
EUR-deposits held EUR EUR

1% - 3% 38,930 37,585
Total 38,930 37,585

The Company has overdraft facility agreements with four commercial banks for a total amount of HUF
11.5 billion, of which an agreement of HUF 2.0 billion can also be utilised in EUR equivalent. The overdraft
facility agreements are priced at 1 month BUBOR + interest margin, 1 month EURIBOR + interest margin,
and ON BUBOR + interest margin. The maturity of the contracts varies. One committed loan matures in
June 2026 and one uncommitted loan matures in January 2026. The third and fourth uncommitted loan
agreements are for an indefinite period. During 2024, the overdraft facility was drawn down on an ad hoc
basis to fund operational payments, with short outstanding balances of 1-14 days. High interest rates did
not result in significant additional interest expense for the Company.

In 2022, the Company entered into revolving credit facility agreements with two domestic commercial
banks, mostly at fixed interest rates, expiring in 2025, for a total of HUF 17.5 billion. The amount drawn
down under these credit facilities was HUF 10.5 billion at 31 December 2024, and HUF 14 billion at the
end of 2023. Based on the revolving nature, these loans are included in current liabilities.

The following assumptions are used in interest rate sensitivity analysis:

e for the investments (deposits and securities): if the average amount of investments in 2024 have
been invested for one year at the yield realised in 2024, and the realised yield percentage would
have been in line with the basis point deviations indicated,

o for the fixed-rate loan portfolio: the fixed-rate loan portfolio on the books as of December 31, 2024,
have been drawn down daily in the amount of the average annual drawn balance, at the average
annual interest rate, and the interest percentage payable would have varied according to the
specified basis point differences,

o for the variable-rate overdrafts: if the overdrafts — that were drawn down on a case-by-case basis
in 2024 - have been drawn down daily in the average annual amount of the portfolio, at the average
annual interest rate, and the interest percentage payable would have been the same as the basis
point deviations indicated.
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The effects on the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows when all other assumptions remain
unchanged:

amounts in million HUF

Effect on profit for the year
Increase/decrease in basis points (+) Increase in profit
(-) Reduction in profit

Bank deposits, securities

+100 352
-100 (352)
+150 528
-150 (528)
Revolving loans
+100 (132)
-100 132
+150 (197)
-150 197

In the case of variable-rate overdrafts occasionally drawn in 2024, the utilization was so low that the impact
on the results determined during the interest rate sensitivity analysis does not reach 1 million forints.

The Company has no other significant interest-bearing liabilities.
Other sources of interest rate risks

The Company is mainly exposed to changes in interest rates through its Kosovo segment and the revenue
thereof where full cost recovery mechanism is applied. The profit of this segment is mostly dependent on
the cost of equity (return on capital tied up), the calculation of which is based on the yield of risk-free 10-
year government bonds and is included in the cost base reimbursed by the airlines.

In respect of the En Route and terminal businesses the performance scheme allows to include a risk
premium above the risk-free rate when calculating cost of equity included in the cost base. The expected
return was determined partly in advance for the period of 2020-2024. Therefore, although changes in
interest rates within this period might differ from the real cost of equity, they can not affect the profit of the
segment. However, because it is not allowed to include interest bearing assets in the net asset balance which
is used to calculate cost of equity, the investment activity of the Company effects the profitability of the
segment. In this manner, after the submission of adopted performance plan, the Company would be exposed
to a significant interest rate risk, if it holds large amount of interest-bearing assets. This kind of risk is not
considered significant according to the financing potential (involving external sources of finance). However
related conditions of the external source of finance determine what kind of interest rate risk will arise.

Inflation rate risk management

The risk of changes in inflation rate is borne partly by airlines according to the performance scheme (En
Route and terminal segments). Inflationary differences can not be transferred to airlines if they relate to
depreciation, cost of capital or costs payable for authorities as part of the cost base. The Kosovo segment
operates in full cost recovery scheme where all the cost risk (including inflation risk as well) is transferred
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on to the airlines, however, only in the long term can be collected after two years (in the year ‘n+2’) through
the charges.

The Company intends to manage inflation risk by adjusting the highest possible level of costs to inflation.
For this reason, the Company introduced a system where payroll costs, being the most significant cost item,
are adjusted with inflation. Airspace users bear significant risk of inflation in En Route and terminal
segments in 2024, as the actual inflation rate — which measures the cumulative inflation impact — was 32%
higher than planned. The resulting inflation adjustment will be recovered in the 2026 unit rates.

The Company does not hold any financial assets or liabilities in its books where a possible change in
inflation rate would alter their value and could have significant effect on equity and on the statement of
comprehensive income.

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Company. The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises from the risk of default by
customers on settlement of trade receivables and from the risk of a failure of a financial institution in which
funds are invested for return or held for trading purposes or with whom derivative contracts are entered
into.

In the Kosovo segment the Company does not bear credit risk based on expected credit loss of the
counterparty by the fact, that loss allowances recognised for expected credit losses are allowed to be
included in the cost base (hence can be probated through charges) under the full cost recovery mechanism.

Within the performance scheme in the En Route and the terminal segments the Company bears the credit
risk of default of the customers, that has increased due to COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian war in
Ukraine. Losses incurred in relation to customer impairments are chargeable costs under the relevant EU
regulations, and accordingly the Company has included a flat-rate cost in RP3 performance plan based on
the impairments of previous years, that may be used for incurred impairment losses. The actual risk is that
the amount of impairment losses would increase constantly and would therefore differ materially from the
planned amount. For the year 2024, the amount planned in the performance plan has provided sufficient
coverage for the impairment losses incurred.

The Company intends to invest into bank deposits with institutions holding a high long-term minimum
credit rating. The credit rating of discount treasury bills and government bonds issued or guaranteed by the
Hungarian State are the same as the credit rating of the country which was placed by Standard & Poor’s at
BBB- (investment grade category) in October 2024. The level of fixed deposits hold in one financial
institution is limited to a maximum of 30% of total cash and cash equivalents at the time, when an
investment decision is made. The 30% limit alters to 50% when the total volume of cash and cash
equivalents does not reach a HUF 6 billion threshold.

Based on the indicative offers from the general corporate financing and revolving current asset loan tender
launched in 2024, the Company believes that it has a favourable bank assessment. The 2024 extension of
expiring overdraft facilities, and the substantive elements of non-expiring overdraft facilities (e.g. that are
indefinitely maintained) also can support a favourable assessment of the Company.
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The Company’s investment policy, details of the investment partner review and guidelines on the
investigation of growth in credit risk are described Under Note 14 ‘Accounting policies’.

Maturity of receivables and bad debt allowances charged are disclosed under Note 14.2. The tables
presented there give a summary about the credit risk profile of the Company arising on default by customers
on settlement of trade receivables.

The management believes that the Company is not highly dependent on any of its customers.

Liquidity risk management

The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by monitoring actual and
forecast cash flows and ensuring funding is diversified by source and maturity and available at competitive
cost.

Liquidity risk is mainly influenced by the traffic: if traffic fails to produce the expected level it might cause
underfunding in the relevant business year. This, however, can be collected in Kosovo segment after two
years (period ‘n+2’) through the charges, therefore in this line of business the Company does not bear any
substantive traffic risk - it may have liquidity risk though.

In the En Route and terminal segments the performance scheme allows a maximum of 4.4% traffic risk in
terms of the revenue, this however in a gradual manner: up to £0 - 2% change in traffic compared to the
planned value, the full effect of traffic change has to be borne by the Company, whereas between 2% -10%
change in traffic compared to the planned value only 30% of the difference above 2% points has to be borne
by the Company. Above 10%, all of the additional effect will be taken by airlines. The actual traffic
exceeding the planned amount increases the profitability of the Company. In cases the actual traffic would
not reach the assumed level, it would decrease profitability, however compensating this effect the Company
is entitled to charge a higher cost of equity.

Notwithstanding this, the immediate liquidity effect of the traffic change has to be managed by the
Company, since the part borne by the airlines can be probated after two years first.

Based on the EU Regulation No. 1627/2020 through a different process, underrecoveries - as a result of
decreased revenue in 2020 and in 2021 - are not collected in the period 'n+2’, but are allocated equally into
5 years started in 2023.

Under the performance scheme larger than planned cost generally can not be passed on to users. It can be
passed on to airlines in the very limited cases of uncontrollable costs, but the validation varies by cost types
and it can be charged to users in the year ‘n+2’ or after the end of the actual reference period. In the year
2024, the difference in investment costs was registered as a non-controllable cost item, but this
planned/actual variance will be accounted for at the end of the reference period, in 2025.

The operation of HungaroControl Plc. is marked by a stable liquidity position in 2024.
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Maturity profile of financial receivables according to Statement of Financial Position lines
As part of the liquidity risk analysis, the table below shows the maturity structure of non-derivative financial

instruments at 31 December 2024 and 2023, based on the undiscounted values of contractual cash flows.
The table has been prepared taking into account the earliest date on which the inflow of the receivable could

occur.
amounts in million HUF
Overdue Overdue Overdue
Ageing of financial receivables Not overdue within one between 1- over5 Total

year 5 years years

Based on business model, Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash flows (government 4,190 0 0 0 4,190
securities) with maturity over 1 year

Long term trade receivables 383 0 0 0 383
Other long term assets 109 0 0 0 109
Trade receivables 8,718 335 2 2 9,057
Fixed deposits - within 1 year over 3 months 17 0 0 0 17

Based on business model, Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash flows (government 15,047 0 0 0 15,047
securities) with maturity within 1 year

Other current assets excluding taxes, prepayments

. . 107 0 0 0 107
and accrued income, receivables from employees
Cash and cash equivalents 10,135 0 0 0 10,135
Total December 31, 2024 38,706 335 2 2 39,045
Based on business model, Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash flows (government 3,608 0 0 0 3,608
securities) with maturity over 1 year
Long term trade receivables 374 0 0 0 374
Other long term assets 67 0 0 0 67
Trade receivables 9,416 336 1 2 9,755
Fixed deposits - within 1 year over 3 months 15 0 0 0 15

Based on business model, Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash flows (government 23,692 0 0 0 23,692
securities) with maturity within 1 year

Other current assets excluding taxes, prepayments

) ) 298 0 0 0 298

and accrued income, receivables from employees
Cash and cash equivalents 17,020 0 0 0 17,020
Total December 31, 2023 54,490 336 1 2 54,829
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Maturity profile of financial liabilities according to Statement of Financial Position lines
As part of the liquidity risk analysis, the table below illustrates the maturity profile of non-derivative

financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.The
table has been drawn up based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to repay.

amounts in million HUF

Due within Due Due over 5
Ageing of financial liabilities Overdue between 1- Total
one year years
5 years

Other long term liabilities excluding liability of 0 0 3 5 13
government grants
Long term trade liabilities 0 0 34 0 34
Loans 0 10,500 0 0 10,500
Lease liabilities 2 1,637 6,417 10,865 18,921
Trade payables 37 2,795 0 0 2,832
Other short-term liabilities excluding taxes,
payables to employees, accruals and deferred 0 35 0 0 35
income

Total December 31, 2024 39 14,967 6,459 10,870 32,335
Other long term liabilities excluding liability of 0 0 100 5 105
government grants
Long term trade liabilities 0 0 38 0 38
Loans 0 14,000 0 0 14,000
Lease liabilities 3 1,335 5,883 12,468 19,689
Trade payables 190 3,844 0 0 4,034
Other short-term liabilities excluding taxes,
payables to employees, accruals and deferred 0 25 0 0 25
income

Total December 31, 2023 193 19,204 6,021 12,473 37,891

The Company is in a net inflow position for both years presented. Cash flows from receivables cover cash
outflows due on payables.

Risks in providing air navigation services

According to the first section of paragraph No.69 of Act XCVII of 1995 (regarding services provided in
Hungary) and according to the Act CCXLVIII of 2013, furthermore according to the paragraph No. 3 of
the Government Decree No. 510/2013 (regarding services provided in Kosovo) HungaroControl is required
to establish a liability insurance in order to be entitled to provide air traffic control services. The Company
met these criteria in each year presented.
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15. Provisions

Accounting policies

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of

past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will occur in order
to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are
measured and recorded as the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at

the date of Statement of Financial Position.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Provisions in general are highly judgmental, especially in case of legal disputes. The Company assesses the
probability of an adverse event as a result of a past event and if the probability of an outflow of economic
benefits is evaluated to be more probable than not, i.e. its probability is greater than 50%, the Company
provides for the amount of the estimated liability. The Company has not made any provision for legal

matters.

Total balances at year end are as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Provisions Other provision
Long-term provisions 7
Short-term provisions 81

Total as per December 31, 2023 88
Long-term provisions 0
Short-term provisions 219

Total as per December 31, 2024 219

Movements in long-term provisions are shown in the following table:

amounts in million HUF

Long-term Other provision
Balance as of January 1, 2023 7
Balance as of December 31, 2023 7
Reclassification between long-term and short-term categories -7
Balance as of December 31, 2024 0
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Movements in short term provisions are shown in the following table:

amounts in million HUF

Short-term Other provision
Balance as of January 1, 2023 760
Additional provisions created 53
Utilized during the year (732)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 81
Additional provisions created 212
Reclassification between long-term and short-term categories 7
Utilized during the year (81)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 219

The other provisions include liabilities where present obligations have arisen as a result of past events, the
payments are probable and the amounts can be estimated reliably. The ‘Other provisions’ recognised in
2024 are short-term, that is why discounting is not applied. They are settled in cash within one year, at the
same time the provision is released.

The other short-term provisions include the following items.

amounts in million HUF

Closin Amounts Additional Openin
Short-term other provision & utilized during  Reclassification amount P &
balance balance
the year generated
2024
Operating costs incurred in connection with the
provision of air navigation services under 123 0 0 123 0
owner management
P.ubllc administration fees and supervisory 89 (54) 0 89 54
license fees
Items for previous years (TNC) 7 0 7 0 0
FAB CE subsidy reimbursement 0 (27) 0 0 27
Total 2024 219 (81) 7 212 81
2023
FAB CE subsidy reimbursement 27 0 0 0 27
P.ubllc administration fees and supervisory 54 (269) 0 53 270
license fees
Solidarity contribution 0 (453) 0 0 453
Penalties regarding energy service contract 0 (10) 0 0 10
Total 2023 81 (732) 0 53 760

e Provision for operating costs incurred related to the supply of air navigation services in connection
with the owner management of N7 Holding Plc.

e Provision for public administration fees and supervisory license fees, for which the amount of 2023
provision is released and new provision is created in 2024.

e The provision related to TNC settlement items recorded as lon term provisions in previous years
has been reclassified to short term provisions.
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e Provision for FAB CE subsidy reimbursement (the subsidy received for the costs of the FAB CE
FRA simulation should be returned to the FAB members to avoid multiple funding) was released
in 2024.
16. Employee benefits

Accounting policies

Career plans

As long term employee benefits the Company operated a ‘Defined Benefit Plan’ by the end of 2013. From
December 31, 2013, the Company decided to replace it by a ‘Career plan’.

The Company operates a Career plan as a long term pension scheme regulated by the agreements
‘HungaroControl Career Plan’ and the ‘Air Controller Career Agreement’. A defined part of the Career
plan is invested in retirement related financial instruments. Amounts regulated by the Air Controller Career
Agreement are invested in a separate financial instrument, that will be only available for the air-navigation
personnel after concluding the end of their air controller position. The contributions regarding the air
controllers are invested into a separate fund in 2020 according to the agreement which defines the
instrument, and the closing balance was paid into that. The conversion between the schemes has been closed
regarding the non-air navigation personnel as well, the payments from the closing balance of the previous
scheme are fulfilled as planned. Actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income at transition was
transferred to profit reserves.

In the Career plans within the framework of ‘HungaroControl Career Plan’ laid down by the Collective
Agreement signed on 31 December 2013 and the ‘Air Controller Career Agreement’ signed on the same
date, liabilities and expenses are recognised in the period in which the employee completed the services
that give entitlement to the benefits from the state pension plan or from private and voluntary pension plans.
With respect to these plans, the employer has assumed an obligation to make systematic contributions
towards the employee’s future retirement benefit but is not responsible for the future yields on the
contributions made. The liabilities from Career plans are presented among other long term employee benefit
plans.

Other long term employee benefit plans

Except for the recognition of actuarial gains and losses, the initial and subsequent measurement of other
long-term employee benefit plans is the same as the initial and subsequent measurement of post-
employment benefit plans. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income when they occur.

No specific contributions are made by the companies into a separate fund. The related future obligations
should be determined in line with assumptions for inflation and wage increases, in addition to other
demographical effects (such as mortality). The cash flows estimated on the basis of the previous
assumptions are then discounted to the present value of the benefits and are presented in the Company’s
annual financial statements as a liability. Employees accumulate their entitlement from the beginning of
the entitlement period until the date of payment. As a result, the liabilities need to be assessed only with
respect to the period already served.

79



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

As provided in the 2013 amendment of paragraph No. 132 of the Act CCV of 2012 on the legal status of
defence forces, the jubilee benefits of military service personnel commanded to do service at the Company,
are to be borne by the Company, therefore a long term liability has been established and classified as past
service cost.

The employee benefits according to IAS 19 Employee benefits presented under this note has been
accounted for by using the evaluation of an independent, qualified actuary.

amounts in million HUF

Employee benefits December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Long term employee benefits 6,982 5,905
Short term employee benefits 6,676 4,258

Total employee benefits 13,658 10,163

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits include wages, salaries, social security contributions, and non-monetary
benefits, that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period.
The following table include in addition the short-term part of termination benefits and other long-term
employee benefits.

amounts in million HUF

Short term employee benefits December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Bonuses payable on a short-term basis 1,549 66
Payables regarding performance and financial target achievements 1,445 1,035
Salaries payable for December 1,134 974
Payables regarding security and traffic related targets 927 780
Short term part of other long term employee benefits 804 1,100
Short term part of termination benefits 513 132
Short-term compensated absences 304 169
Other 0 2

Total 6,676 4,258

Post employment benefits

The Company does not provide post-employment benefits to employees.

Termination benefits and Other long term employee benefits

The Company provides, in addition to termination benefits, those benefit items that are described in

accounting policy section. The short term part of these benefits are presented among ‘Short term employee
benefits’.

80



HUNGAROCONTROL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

The amount of the employee benefits are the following:

amounts in million HUF

Other short
Employee benefits Othi;i:“f?::yee TeI;rennlre\fai:Lon err:::c:?/ee Total
benefits
Present value at January 1, 2024 6,280 857 3,026 10,163
Current service cost 2,326 648 5,359 8,333
Change in discount rates (36) (15) 0 (51)
Interest costs 61 14 0 75
Net actuarial (gains)/losses (314) (253) 0 (567)
Past service cost 0 0 0 0
Used during the year (1,213) (56) (3,026) (4,295)
Present value at December 31, 2024 7,104 1,195 5,359 13,658
Short term part 804 513 5,359 6,676
Long term part 6,300 682 0 6,982
amounts in million HUF
Other short
e Temmen e T
benefits

Present value at January 1, 2023 4,940 398 2,957 8,295
Current service cost 1,791 664 3,026 5,481
Change in discount rates 114 62 0 176
Interest costs 70 20 0 20
Net actuarial (gains)/losses (98) (66) 0 (164)
Past service cost (233) 0 0 (233)
Used during the year (304) (221) (2,957) (3,482)
Present value at December 31, 2023 6,280 857 3,026 10,163
Short term part 1,100 132 3,026 4,258
Long term part 5,180 725 0 5,905

The following table summarizes the main financial and actuarial variables and assumptions based on which
the amount of the above liability balances was determined:

amounts in million HUF

Financial and actuarial variables and assumptions December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Effect of changes in assumed exits (400) (265)
Effect of changes in exit probability (133) (7)
Effect of changes in discount rate (51) 176
Effect of changes in expected salary increase (31) 147
Other (3) (39)

Total (618) 12

Included in other comprehensive income 0 0

Included in comprehensive income statement (618) 12

The actuarial gain included in the balance arose on those parts of the obligation, however to a lesser extent
only, where the period of service is not yet fulfilled by the employees. According to the Collective
Agreement signed, new non-air navigation employees in the scheme have to work 5 years till they are fully
authorized members. In their case the actuarial gain/loss includes impacts like increase of salaries expected
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differently or the difference between the estimated and actual impact of exit and death. In 2024 the amount
of Actuarial gains/losses line shows a gain result.

Actuarial gains and losses are charged to comprehensive income, since the Company takes the obligation
to pay defined contribution to employees’ future pension, but does not take any commitment to ensure
future benefits.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions

Discount rates: The Company used the zero-coupon discount rates published by Government Debt
Management Agency as per 31 December 2024. Longer term discount rates have only been used in relation
to the occupational accidents balance and the jubilee benefits for the military service personnel commanded
to the Company (Other long term employee benefits).

Short term discount rate used for scheme liabilities in 2024 was 5.6% regarding balances due within 1 year,
in 2023 balances within 1 year the discount rate was near 6.6%.

Among all the actuarial assumptions the change in discount rates has significant impact on the net present
value of the liability balance. From 2022 to 2023 the year end value of the obligations increased by HUF
176 million, since between 2023 and 2024 the year-end balance decreased by HUF 51 million.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions

Actual versus estimated exit probability: exit assumptions for 2024 have been determined based on
historical data for the last 10 years, taking into account the fact that there is a detectable relationship between
the length of time worked at the Company and the probability of leaving. These are presented below broken
down by categories of personnel (averages):

- 2024: Non-air navigational employees: 5.7%, air navigational employees: 1.5%.

- 2023: Non-air navigational employees: 5.9%, air navigational employees: 0.4%.

Mortality index: mortality indices used are derived from the statistics published by the Central Statistical
Office assuming the mortality rate equal to 50% of the population mortality rate, with one in ten deaths
being considered as work place accidents taking into account actual historical data of the Company from
the last years.

Increase in salaries: wage increase assumption was used in one hand for occupational accidents, the amount
of expected payments of this benefit element is affected only to a small extent by the assumptions. In
addition, we used wage increase assumptions for the anniversary bonuses of military personnel based on
data available until 2029. After 2029 we assumed a wage increase of 5% in line with the long-term inflation
target of the National Bank of Hungary.

Sensitivity analysis of actuarial assumptions is based on a change in one significant assumption, with all
other assumptions held constant. Sensitivity analyses are not necessarily represents the actual change in

the benefit obligation because it is unlikely that changes in assumptions will occur separately.

The sensitivity analysis carried out on the main actuarial assumptions used in the valuation shows the
following:

82



HUNGAROCONTROL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

amounts in million HUF

Assumptions

Impact on Employee Benefit Obligation

Effect of changes in assumed exits

+10 % (20)

-10% 20
Effect of changes in discount rate

+0.25 % (18)

-0.25% 18
Effect of changes in expected salary increase

+1% 64

1% (61)

17. Related party disclosure

Transactions with related parties

Transactions with the Hungarian State and with other state-controlled entities

As the Company applies the exemption provided in IAS 24.25, balances with the Hungarian State and with

other state-controlled entities do not have to be disclosed fully.

However, owing to the exemption, the Company is required to make the following disclosures regarding
partners which can be considered to be influential from the Company’ perspective.

Governmental bodies appointed by law to settle the costs of flights exempted from air navigation charges
are the Ministry of Construction and Transport, Ministry of Defence and Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
Cost of flights exempted from charges and settled with the Hungarian State are recognised as short term
and long term assets and are credited into revenues from air navigation services — refer to Notes 5., 14.1

and 14.2.
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The total amount of reimbursement claims for flights exempted from charges were as follows:

amounts in million HUF

Balance as per, Credited to . Balance as per,
. Balance . X . Credited to
Flights exempted December 31, aid off Impairment Financial Revenue January 1,
2024 . income 2024
Ministry of Defence 644 381 (1) 42 323 659
Ministry of Construction and 66 37 0 4 )8 1
Transport
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 33 36 0 3 33 33
Total 743 454 (1) 49 384 763
_ Balance as per, Balance _ Cr?_dltet:l to Credited to Balance as per,
Exempted flights December 31, aid off Impairment Financial Revenue January 1,
2023 8 income 2023
Ministry of Defence 659 550 3 49 303 860
Ministry of Construction and 1 39 0 5 36 69
Transport
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 33 31 0 5 33 26
Total 763 620 3 59 372 955

Governmental organizations from whom the Company purchases services, leases assets from, has other
obligations to pay to, or sale products and provide services are presented below.

The following government bodies have no direct control over the Company or reversed, however, the
management of the Company considers these transactions to be significant in terms of size and are
disclosed to regulatory authorities and also reported to senior management hence are disclosed hereinafter.

In September 2007, the Company signed an asset management agreement with the authority responsible
for national property (Treasury Property Directorate legal predecessor of Hungarian National Asset
Management Inc.). According to the agreement, the Company acquired asset management rights over state
owned land, buildings, structures and related property rights. The Company classifies the contract as leases
under IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ Standard. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Financial Statements are
presented according to the requirements. According to the agreement the Company is obliged to keep the
assets at their original nominal value by restoring, replacing and improving them counterbalancing the loss
in usage values. The liability to keep the state-owned assets at their original nominal value (‘replacement
obligation’) was disclosed at the beginning among long term liabilities. The related regulation was amended
with an effective date of 28 June 2013 resulting that the repayment obligation incurred from 29 June 2013
has been waived. The accumulated replacement obligation was settled by agreements signed, thus the value
of current year construction and renovation on state owned assets is accounted for among receivables.
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Significant related party transactions:

amounts in million HUF

Related parties Services used 2024 2023
Asset management fee payable according to an
asset management agreement over state owned 960 947
Hungarian National Asset Management Inc. land and buildings
- Of which Lease fee 960 946
Supervisory fee payable of air navigation services 1,052 1218
over Hungary
Air nz\lnganon service related administration fees 227 275
Ministry of Construction and Transport payable
Supervisory fee payable of air navigation services 105 100
over Kosovo
Other payable license fees 101 9

Further transactions considered to be significant in terms of size:

amounts in million HUF

Related parties Services used 2024 2023
Electricity expenses 0 1,560
MVM Next Energiakeresked6 Plc.*
Gas expenses 72 138
Hungarian Meteorological Service (OMSZ) .
Purch f met | | dat 29 25
HungaroMet Nonprofit Plc.** urchase or meteorological data
Digital Government Agency Public procurement procedure fee 45 19
Electricity expenses 294 293
Lease of properties 137 140
Budapest Airport Plc.***
Repair, maintenance, other services 61 52
Utility services 15 14
Directorate General of Public Procurement | Lease of properties 8 8
National Waste Management Coordination Waste collection services used 0 )
and Asset Management Plc.
Ministry of Defence Lease of properties 2 2

* The part of electricity service corresponding to this presentation was provided by a non-affiliated company in 2024.
**HungaroMet Nonprofit Plc. Was established by the transformation of the former Hungarian Meteorological Service (OMSZ).

*** Budapest Airport Plc. became a related party in 2024 due to a change in ownership structure.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been received. In
2024 HUF 3 million loss allowance (HUF 4 million in 2023) is accounted for flights exempted for doubtful
debts, while an impairment loss of HUF 1 million was reversed on receivables settled.

There were not any events or transactions occurred in the years presented which ones the management
considers to be outside the normal day-to-day business operation or which were carried out on non-market

terms.
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Transactions with the partner having direct control over the Company

amounts in million HUF

Transactions with N7 Holding Plc. December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Amounts presented in Statement of Comprehensive Income*
Sales of IT services (46) (38)
Sales of intermediated services (47) (12)
Reimbursement of expenses 124 0
Amounts presented in Statement of Financial Position**
Amounts owed by parent company 18 17

* Revenues (-)/Expenses (+)
** Receivables (+)/Liabilities (-)

Transactions with joint ventures

EPC Ltd. provides the training of air navigation personnel for the Company, and provides language courses.
Sales revenues from EPC Ltd. include office rentals, training room rentals and revenues for management

services. Short term liabilities are fully settled at the year end.

The transactions with EPC Ltd. are disclosed fully:

amounts in million HUF

Transactions with EPC December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Amounts presented in Statement of Comprehensive Income*
Sales of management services (14) (14)
Purchases of training services 1,082 738
Rental income (28) (27)
Amounts presented in Statement of Financial Position**
Amounts owed to related parties - long term (5) (5)

* Revenues (-)/Expenses (+)
** Receivables (+)/Liabilities (-)

Transactions with FABCE Aviation Services, Ltd. include purchase of professional support and

management services (2024: HUF 66 million, 2023: HUF 46 million).

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been received. In
2024 and in 2023 no provisions have been made for doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed by joint

ventures.

No events or transactions occurred in the years presented which the management considers to be outside
the normal course of the business operation or which were carried out on non-market terms.
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Remuneration of the Supervisory Board, compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the Company is set out below in aggregate for each of
the categories specified in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Financial year 2024 amounts in million HUF
Remuneration of executives Short-term employee Other long-term
benefits** benefits***
Remuneration of Board of Directors 38 0
Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 35 0
Remuneration of key management personnel* 646 57
Total 719 57

* The amount includes in total HUF 126 million bonus accrual.

**Short-term employee benefits include among others: Salary, Benefits based on performance evaluation, Premium, Cafeteria,
etc.

***0Other long-term benefits include the amounts granted under Air Controller Career Agreement and Collective Agreement.

Financial year 2023 amounts in million HUF
. X Short-term employee Other long-term
Remuneration of executives benefits** benefits***
Remuneration of Board of Directors 38 0
Remuneration of the Supervisory Board**** 31 0
Remuneration of key management personnel* 528 12
Total 597 12

* The amount includes in total HUF 48 million bonus accrual.

**Short-term employee benefits include among others: Salary, Benefits based on performance evaluation, Premium, Cafeteria,
etc.

***0Other long-term benefits include the amounts granted under Air Controller Career Agreement and Collective Agreement.
****The amounts of the Remuneration of the Supervisory Board are now only include the remuneration of the membership, as
opposed to the previous presentation, which presentation is corrected for 2023.

Key management personnel include the Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chief Executive Officers, three
employees with Director status, the Aviation Security Officer and the Data Protection Officer.

No loans or advance payments were granted to the key management personnel the members of the
Supervisory Board or Board of Directors, and the Company did not undertake guarantees in their names.
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18. Commitments, contingencies

Under- and overrecovery balances from air navigation services

Under- and overrecovery balances in Kosovo segment

According to the special mechanism of the system, for charging zones applying full cost recovery method,
like the Serbia-Montenegro-KFOR charging zone, the difference between income and chargeable costs for
year ‘n’ resulted in underrecovery or over-recovery balances. Over- and underrecoveries are calculated as
a difference between charges billed to users, other income and actual chargeable costs. Underrecovery or
overrecovery balances are settled through the ‘adjustment mechanism’, when balances of year 'n’ are
carried over to year ‘n+2’ (earliest) and taken into account in the calculation of the chargeable unit rates.

Under- and overrecovery balances in en-route and terminal segments of the Hungarian charging zone

In the performance scheme under- and overrecoveries arise due to various occurrences: the risk of deviation
from the traffic and inflation forecasted is shared with the airspace users. The Company does not bear the
risk of the so called “uncontrollable costs’, thus, the Company has to settle under- and overrecovery
balances from these facts in the future. Under-and overrecovery balances may arise simultaneously in the

same period and for the same segment due to different risk sharing rules.

The Company does not recognise these revenue settlement balances in the Statement of Financial Position,
as these balances fulfil the criteria of contingent assets and liabilities and have a significant impact on future
cash flows and operations, therefore are disclosed hereinafter with amounts measured in accordance with
the requirements for measuring provisions.

Estimates of financial effects - Contingent assets arising from underrecovery balances due to
EUROCONTROL’s adjustment mechanism:

amounts in million HUF

Amounts
Closing balance Amounts LRI Opening balance
. N, b . . )
Underfunding from cost base mechanism December 31, 2024 reimbursed dl.mng Fhe January 1, 2024
(reversals) financial
year
underrecoveries, En-route segment 30,870 (7,842) 10,250 28,462
underrecoveries, TNC segment 6,552 (1,622) 2,266 5,908
underrecoveries, Kosovo segment 136 0 136 0
Total underrecovery carried over 37,558 (9,464) 12,652 34,370

* For the interests of transparency, balances are presented by business segments.
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Estimates of financial effects - Contingent liabilities arising from overrecovery balances due to
EUROCONTROL’s adjustment mechanism:

amounts in million HUF

Amounts
Closing balance Amounts e Opening balance
. . * ’ . . ’
Overfunding from cost base mechanism December 31, 2024 reimbursed dl'll'lng Fhe January 1, 2024
(reversals) financial
year
overrecoveries, En-route segment 25,422 (13,461) 8,233 30,650
overrecoveries, TNC segment 2,401 (1,309) 336 3,374
overrecoveries, Kosovo segment 0 (760) 0 760
Total overrecovery carried over 27,823 (15,530) 8,569 34,784
Contingent liability from non-controllable costs 4,794 (2,659) 4,344 3,109
C.ontlngent liability from other unit rate related 131 (240) 0 371
differences
Contingent liability from differences of Actual 144 0 144 0
vs. Planned
Total co.ntlngent liability from cost base 32,892 (18,429) 13,057 38,264
mechanism

* For the interests of transparency, balances are presented by business segments.

The possible assets and obligations are expected to be realized, however the exact amounts of these depend
on uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity (future traffic, approval of stake-
holders).

Other commitments, contingencies

Among Other commitments and contingencies, the Company had the following bank guarantees given or
received at the year ends presented:

amounts in million HUF

Maturity date Amount
30.08.2024-01.09.2025 33 bank guarantee given for rental fee payment
Guarantees given 33
20.01.2022-21.01.2025 1 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
21.07.2023-27.01.2025 101 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
13.12.2024-30.04.2025 19 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
17.12.2024-30.04.2025 358 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
21.10.2020-31.08.2025 2 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
31.03.2022-08.04.2026 1 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
18.01.2022-30.01.2027 2 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
13.12.2022-30.11.2027 12 bank guarantee received in relation to investment projects
Guarantees received 496

As part of the tendering process regarding new projects and contracts, the Company may require
performance or advance payment guarantees. These guarantees are mostly connected to building
reconstruction projects, construction or restructuring projects of the safety and communication
infrastructures and systems.

These guarantees vary in length depending on the life of the contract and may run until the expiry of the
contract. The total guarantees received in these respects at 31 December 2024 were HUF 496 million of
which HUF 358 million guarantee belongs to the purchase of the Modular Integrated Remote Tower
(mirTWR) system.
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19. Capital risk management

HungaroControl manages its capital to be able to continue as a going concern, to ensure that it meets its
obligations towards its partners and to fund business development. The Company's capital is in majority
represented in tangible assets and intangible assets, that largely serve the core business. In addition, due to
the settlement mechanism that governs the Company’s operations, the proportion of cash and cash
equivalents was significant in 2024. Liabilities financed by foreign funds contain loans and lease liabilities
to be presented in accordance with IFRS 16.

The Company monitors its equity structure continually to be able to comply with the Hungarian legislation
which prescribes a certain level of issued capital/equity attributable to the owners’ ratio. The Company

fulfilled the defined requirements as enacted by the regulation.

The equity is presented in the following table:

amounts in million HUF

Equity items December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Non-current assets 55,695 51,404
Current assets without cash 28,873 37,553
Cash and cash equivalents 10,135 17,020
Total assets 94,703 105,977
Liabilities financed by own funds 23,701 21,495
Liabilities financed by foreign funds 21,850 25,435
Total liabilities 45,551 46,930

Shareholder's equity * 49,152 59,047

* HungaroControl considers as equity the assets which were made available by the owner and which were left with the Company
from the profit after tax. Equity includes the part of the reserves which were realised through the results of cash flow hedges as
well.

20. Events after the reporting period

The Company has assessed the impact on the financial statements of the information that becomes available
after the date of Statement of Financial Position but before the financial statements are authorised for issue
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Policies. On this basis, we are not aware of any significant events that
would have an impact on the financial statements.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended at December 31, 2024 prepared in conformity

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are approved in accordance with the resolution of
the CEO on 29 May 2025.

Budapest, 29 May 2025

Chief Executive Officer
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